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CORPORATE PROFILE

Green Build Technology Limited (“Green Build” or “the Company”) was founded
on 6 February 2004. Its stock trading code on the Singapore Exchange is YOB.
Currently, its subsidiaries in China include Harbin Shengming Energy Saving
and Technology Co., Ltd., Harbin Utility Tunnel Construction and Management

Co., Ltd., Harbin Prevailing Municipal Engineering Co., Ltd. and Harbin Superior
Construction Materials Trading Co., Ltd.. In 2016, the Company completed the
disposal of its packaging business to focus on urbban infrastructure construction,
comprehensive refurbishment of old estates and the investment, management
and operation of energy-saving and environmental projects.

The Company is the only corporate participant in the committee
to formulate the National Green Mark Standard for Evaluation
of Upgrading of Existing Buildings. It completed the Three-
Ditch Bankside Green Lighting Project, a demonstration project
showcasing the installation of LED street lamps at Hejiagou and
Majiagou to reduce energy consumption. It is also the appointed
enterprise to complete an estate upgrading demonstration
project involving green technology under the China’s Twelfth Five-
Year Plan theme of “Green Development”. In 2015, the Company
continued to be successful in its bid for general energy-saving
building projects in Harbin and was also successful in its bid to
construct one of the first utility tunnels in China, thus becoming a
pioneer in this industry.

The Company has one of the best R&D teams in the industry
in energy-saving technology. It gathers a legion of industry
experts and researchers, working together with the leading
R&D units of China Academy of Building Research, Shanghai
Research Institute of Building Sciences, Shenzhen Institute of
Building Sciences, Nanyang Technological University, Singapore
Environment Institute and Harbin Institute of Technology to
conduct extensive research into green redevelopment of building,
and has obtained relevant patents in this field.

Through years of effort, the Company is now well-recognised
and well-regarded by the industry. The Company was invited
to participate in the third, fourth and fifth sessions of the
“Heilongjiang Provincial People’s Congress”, presented in the
Prevention of Air Pollution seminar in Heilongjiang Province
as keynote speaker, organised the “create low-carbon city,
build Green Harbin” seminar at the Harbin International Cold
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Zone Expo. The Company was also the only keynote speaker
from Harbin at the Eleventh International Conference of Green
Development and Energy Saving to speak on “Countering Smog
— Promoting green redevelopment on existing building”. The
Company also participated in the Green City — Green Industry
Forum 2014 in Magdeburg, Germany, and the Heilongjiang
Province (Hong Kong) economic and trade cooperation activities
2015. It also organised the “New Norm, New Opportunities, New
Model - Public-Private-Partnership (“PPP”) and Heilongjiang
Economic Development” seminar, which is the first PPP seminar
in Heilongjiang.

Currently, China is actively promoting the PPP model. As the first
PPP model practitioner, the Company is at the forefront of the
industry. In 2015, the general energy-saving building projects
and the utility tunnel projects in Harbin adopted the PPP model.
This successful implementation of the PPP model bodes well
for the economic restructuring and infrastructure construction in
Heilongjiang.

2016 is the first year of China’s Thirteenth Five-Year Plan. In
this year, the Company spent every effort in the utility tunnel
project to complete the substantial part of this benchmark
project in China’s first utility tunnel construction. The Company
has also completed the general energy-saving building projects,
improved the living environment of residents and uplifted the
urban environs. It also supported the use of PPP model in the
infrastructure construction projects as a means in promoting
Harbin’s economy growth, and proactively expand our business
and presence to reach another peak in the urban infrastructure
construction realm.
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GErLRiE" 2015 BRTH(EB ERGETRAESN,
EH HES. FVE. HEX-PPPEEIZFAE"
HEBHBERIEEAN PPPEAFAITEEILE 5IBE
ARiE.

BEl, PEXAHETPPPIEN, REMEHERTILAE,
BAE—it PPPEXMEKITE. 2015 F—RERATEE
HESWHREM TSRS EMBIRYFKA PPP EX L, %
MBRMRIER AR TIEFER MNEIERIZEE
REAMEERNHENER.

2016 5, BHE “+=1" AYMNFRZE, EX—FH,
BIMBERENHEFEBMHERR, TEENEHBTERS
EMZIRMBTRE; ARERENBEFREEA K
TERIENR, HERREBENRE RABTES Xh
T PPPREXARTEMIIBRZIZITUWREA, MAH
BAMERE, METSEMNANEGE EREFLR
RB#EX, HEIRTERFLRE RMFHBEL EHHEM
BRI ESFE.
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Thousands of sailboats are competing to win. We are setting
sail on a long voyage by ploughing through the winds and riding
through the waves.

A progress in one year, a leapfrog development in one year.
In 2016, Green Build Technology Limited (“Green Build” or
“the Group”) had obtained a great achievement through our
hardships, passion and determination. In upholding the ancient
precept of “as heaven keeps vigor through movement, a
gentleman should unremittingly practice self-improvement”,
the Group also painted grand development with exciting scene
through its strengths demonstrated. In the past four years,
in endorsing our corporate mission of "improving the urban
environment, casting a century enterprise”, the Group had built
a number of significant projects timely and endlessly; lifted up
the backbone of the city for long-term basis; and composed a
harmonious movement to improve resident's livelihood in the
interest of the society.

To stand at the crest of the era, we must develop courage;
and we are not afraid of difficulties because our dreams are
firm and strong. We believe every staff will become the driving
force for the enterprise’s transformation, devoting passion to
create a big era with full enthusiasm with the aim of making
the Group becoming a respectable enterprise. In 2017, the
Group’s marching footsteps are still sonorous. We believe
that the Group will breakthrough all the difficulties and achieve
greater success with the relentless exploration and hard work
from all the employees.

Zhao Lizhi

Chairman of the Board of Directors

STATEMENT
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Mr Zhao Lizhi was re-designated as Executive Chairman and Director
on 1 March 2015. He is a senior energy management professional and
building energy conservation expert. He is a well-known entrepreneur
in energy-saving service industry, a member of the Green Building
Committee of the Civil Engineering Society of Heilongjiang Province,
the Secretary of Harbin Green Building Professional Committee,
and the adjunct lecturer of several universities in Harbin city, such
as Harbin Institute of Technology, Harbin University of Commerce
MBA Education Center, Harbin University of Commerce Institute of
Business Economics and etc.
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He has more than 20 years of theoretical and practical experience in
corporate management, project management, capital management,
building energy-saving technology development and infrastructure
construction.

He has scored more than 100 of invention patents under his name,
which related to new practical models and designs. His business
has been chosen as a pioneer for provincial-level patent work in
Heilongjiang Province, one of the third batch of pioneer for intellectual
property right of national enterprises and institutions and Heilongjiang
energy-saving door and window industrialization base for high-tech
enterprises in 2006. He has made great contributions to the national
energy-saving and environmental protection with the new business
mode of “the Patented Technology Zero Point Output” in China.

Since 2010, he has participated in the insulation projects to transform
the existing buildings, which are beneficial to the residents. In 2013,
he has also undertaken an urban LED lightings project based on
the Engineering, Procurement, and Construction (“EPC”) model
and has a great achievement. On 6 January 2014, he was invited
to attend the “Non-voting Attendee Seminar of the Third Session of
Heilongjiang 12th People’s Congress”. In the seminar, he delivered
a speech on behalf of all experts and also raised a topic on “the
Replacing Coal-fired Boiler-based Heating with Combined Solar
Energy and Natural Gas” in the old urban districts which providing a
new solution to the control of haze weather conditions and arousing
widespread attention. He also participated in the formulation of
the National Green Mark Standard for Evaluation of Upgrading of
Existing Buildings Using Green Architect.

In 2015 and 2016, under Mr Zhao’s leadership, the first batch of
the insulation project and the underground utility tunnel project had
been duly executed according to the requirements of government.
He became a prominent figure in the industry.

As the chairman of the board of Green Build Technology Limited, Mr
Zhao s leading the group to the future and clear that the green building
industry and the urban infrastructure is the strategic objectives.
They will be achieved by technological innovation, management
innovation, business model innovation, capital efficiency, increase
in competitiveness, branding, enterprise quality improvement, and
making the group be internationalised, prominent and sustainable.



GREEN BUILD TECHNOLOGY LIMITED  Annual Report 2016

SEMRERRERERETERZRCEEEARARDEE

EARREEN ERIHAMMEEXR, £EEEAARLEE
FHERSER, BRIETABEAYZ—, WMREALXF
MBA¥ B FIMFEEE, (RiTifz) $SBEEE, AFERER
MRE. EETEUEERLHNARSIREURHAR, RS
H&5T LEREVHAEVEREE, SUKREAR. LERES
it ST REETE, HRBEVEEFELHN “AEERI
g RRAHFIHEUMKID, 2005498, FiE (AE—BE
RIMAIESE) —BHPELRBHRALHR, B ARHEERE
10000/, HRXBERTIEHMRAEFHNARR=5R, 20084Fi%
HRWREE (PEZBEL) ., 201555 FELEER LA
SEMNEBT (B £F  “=ENMET EHEREER G
BIE" ) BitE, (BHRGITER) RELXER (BEEAZRENL
BigerEl#ELZREXHAR) £E, EERSIEZXE.

REEXITZSER—EBNTUEEIRRIAE, N2010F %2013
F, £BESSHRETREGEATELETIE, ATEEE, M1
EE, BRTRESFME. ERAVENRANARETARETFE
ML EE. EhRREE, CUEEEE, flscwEg, 3
RNEIESFTHEGRENERYK. FENXREE, 31
TEHBREREME.

2014 B RTHASSEB M S EXREEWHE (BHT
RSHENE—ZMEBNEIER) , BHEANAZFIS5SEX
HM—EIAT, SEECZRERRBHSEAXTE ERREER
ElS ITERRET, BEFEMRE SERIENANTILE
RRHIT GLE “=AET” , AOEHEHERESHE ) .
(RREBEG, SI9RBEFLR) EXE BISSEX
=EITN, FEZhRBERs. BRIEEREETRRERN
L, ZEEATMHMANXT TEAFmSH, (FAE——ReURE
SEMSHITTELR, #X, R2BHBEIEZTHIEERY
81T, 2015F(EAREITEM—— AWK REE+—EERE
BEFSRAVRASEIRAS = RERS (MAZAVRELE
KARIEIE) itizp, BT (EEMKR—emigHEFE
RFRBAEE) NERER 5 (HESHIBHEX—PPPS
EIIZFEE201571EiILIEY F  #HITPPPER ST HEMIE
BREMEELS, WEIEMEHEZREEREEAMEDE
. 20165, &F (LHERETIH TR ERMERNHFHEN
ARXRE) . 20176, KRE WMARSBETERSTHEL
BRlgitiz” 5§ S+ -ZRERGEEASBRATEAS" LIEE
ELEEGH, EERAnTIESASEmA.

Ms Wu Xueying is our Chief Executive Officer was appointed as an
Executive Director of our Company on 11 March 2014. She is also
the General Manager of the Group’s subsidiary, Shengming Energy
Saving and Technology Co., Ltd.

Ms Wu is a certified senior energy manager, a member of Heilongjiang
Technology Economy Expert Advisory Committee, a member of
the National Management Talent Vocational Qualification Review
Committee and is one of ten major philanthropists in Heilongjiang
Province. She is also an adjunct lecturer with the MBA Education

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Centre of Harbin Commerce University and Longjiang Forum,
and a postgraduate in Provincial Party School. She specialises in
management consulting and corporate strategic planning. Since the
beginning of her career, she has accumulated extensive experience
in business management through participating in corporate strategic
planning and corporate culture consulting work. In September
2005, Ms Wu published her first book entitled { L B—&fER
THYATRERY , which discusses and summarises her views on
corporate staff training. The book was awarded the outstanding
research third-class award by the Heilongjiang Provincial Academy
of Social Sciences and was incorporated to the “China Management
Yearbook” in 2008. Besides, She also published ( “=AEEEE" i
HETEA FEKE” ) and (BEERGEARESTIEL
BRI in the renowned journal (EBHY and (EBHIZITE
I2) respectively.

She became involved in the energy conservation management
industry in 2010, which is a relatively young industry in the PRC.
She has participated in the insulation projects to transform the
existing buildings from 2010 to 2013, pursuant to which she gained
practical experience in managing numerous aspects of projects of
such natures. She has outstanding achievements in many fields with
profound theoretical foundations and rich practical experiences in
corporate management.

Ms Wu delivered an importance speech of “Building energy saving
and heating transformation — The effective way for haze control” in
Heilongjiang Province Seminar for Atmospheric Pollution Prevention
and Control in 2014. Her unique views were unanimously recognised
by the experts attending the seminar, and attracted full attentions
from society after being reported by the media. She also delivered
important speeches on “Vigorously promote the comprehensive
transformation of the old urban districts based on the three
transitions” and “Develop Green Buildings and Usher in Green
Economic Development” in two separate forums on the Harbin
International Cold Fair, respectively. It was highly praised by the
experts attending the forum, and received exclusive interviews from
more than ten media companies including CCTV and Heilongjiang
TV, and attracted attention from the Municipal Government and
Provincial Government. She delivered work report to the provincial
leaders as the only entrepreneur on NPC and CPPCC, and was
highly praised by the Secretary of Provincial Party, Mr Wang Xiankui.
In 2015, she was the only business representative to speak in
the Eleventh International Green Building and Building Energy-
Saving, and New Technologies and Products Forum with a topic of
“Comprehensively promote green transformation in the haze era”.
She also spoke about the PPP business model and the economy
development in Heilongjiang Province in the “New opportunity with
new business model - PPP and Longjiang Economic Development
Summit Forum 2015”. In 2016, she published an article of “The five
relationships between the promotions of urban underground utility
tunnel development and the scientific treatments”. In 2017, she spoke
successively in the “Harbin Smart City Construction and Sustainable
Development Summit Forum” and “Thirteenth International Green
Building and Building Energy Conference”.
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ARMITESE, BATF201643010, AALSAREYL, AR
SRAERANFRLSE, ThEERFRRELVERADEHE
BUSERER. FEERARLL ARAXSOA TR
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Mr Henry Li Mingyang was appointed as an Executive Director of
our Company on 1 March 2016. He is in charge of the business
development of the Company. Mr Li has more than ten years of
experience on the business development in Harbin Tianen Industrial
Co., Ltd. Mr Li graduated from the Heilongjiang Radio and Television
University with a bachelor degree of Criminal Law.
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Mr Kuan Cheng Tuck was appointed as an Independent Director
of our Company on 10 June 2014. He is the Chairman of the Audit
Committee and Remuneration Committee and also a member of
the Nominating Committee. Mr Kuan has more than 20 years of
experience in the fields of accounting, auditing as well as business
and financial advisory. He currently manages his own accounting
and financial consulting practices. He is also an independent
director of several SGX and HKEx listed companies. He holds a
Bachelor of Accountancy degree from the Nanyang Technological
University of Singapore and is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants (“ACCA”), United Kingdom as well
as a member of the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants
(“ISCA”). In addition to his accounting qualifications, he also holds
a Master of Laws (Corporate and Financial Services Law) degree
from the National University of Singapore, a Bachelor of Laws degree
from the University of London and is an associate member of the
Chartered Secretaries Institute of Singapore.



GREEN BUILD TECHNOLOGY LIMITED  Annual Report 2016

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

PAIREIEN
MERERRTIES

BERE—EIFERM AT (CFA Charterholder)., 2000
FEVFHEMETFEIXS. EREFHMFEBayerische
HypoVereinsbank  AG  #EMISILMERRGIEAN; FEFNE
Midas Investment Management Limited$B{EiF&EEFZIE;
New Harbour Capital Partners 3B{ERFFTOHTIE; FEIT N EIEE
AREESW R MIE; FEEastern Holdings Limited$B{E#E %4
I#; II{ES.E.A. Asset Management Pte LidE &R E.

Mr Gallen Tay Wi Keng is a chartered financial analyst (CFA Charter
holder). He graduated from Nanyang Technological University in
Singapore in 2000, and acted as the head of Asian headquarters
of MIS in Singapore Bayerische HypoVerinsbank AG; securities
investment manager in Midas Investment Management Limited
in Singapore; research analyst in New Harbor Capital Partners;
corporate financing consultant in  Singapore’s political union;
investment manager in Eastern Holdings Limited, and now he acts
as the CIO in S.E.A. Asset Management Pte. Ltd.

EMX
SERERARIES

EMANKERMREAMAFZEEZRHE, KRREBHLXFE
MBARRH R, GtWEESEHFZHNUMLESM, RREEER
EIESENRRIER, BETIEAWTOMRRHSERFTHER
=EE BRIEAGIRMS. BRTIEEEFSSTRIMHS4E
ASMEACKHESERREEEN. TERRFTEARILLRE
BSEEEN ERSSSEAEXRBANFESRAMERSE
HMEMFIRE R, EEFRFARELEZRFZRLILTRE.
ABRETESREWBEITEERRE, RECVEREIHTT.

Dong Congwen is a professor of the Management College of
Harbin University of Commerce, senior professor of MBA of
Harbin University of Commerce, master’s supervisor of business
administration discipline and marketing discipline, he also acts
as the vice president of Heilongjiang Counselor Association,
head of Management and Advisory Commission of Association
for Advancement of WTO of Heilongjiang Province, managing
director and director in over 10 social organizations and research
communities, such as Heilongjiang Association of Entrepreneurs,
Heilongjiang Academy of Management., etc. He mainly focuses in
enterprise development strategy and management consultancy, and
he presided and completed over 10 national and provincial scientific
researches, including the Natural Science Foundation of China, and
has published over 60 academic papers in academic journals in
different levels. He acted as management consultant for dozens of
enterprises in Heilongjiang Province, and provided valuable advice
to the enterprises.
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Mr Li Zhao Kun is our Financial Controller. Mr Li is responsible for
overseeing our Group’s accounting and finance matters. Mr Li
has more than 10 years of experience in the fields of accounting
and auditing in both KPMG Singapore and RSM Chio Lim LLP.
Mr Li was responsible for amongst others, performing operational
and financial audits of public listed companies and multinational
corporations in various industries, and developing and implementing
plans to enhance efficiency and effectiveness of business and
financial process. Mr Li left his position as an audit manager of RSM
Chio Lim LLP in July 2015. Mr Li graduated from Oxford Brookes
University with a bachelor degree in Accountancy with honours.
Mr Li is currently a member of the Institute of Singapore Chartered
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants (ACCA), United Kingdom.
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Ms Wang Hong is the Deputy Vice President of our Green
Technology Division in charge of the administration, public relations
and business development department. Prior to joining our Group in
2014, she served as a reporter of Harbin Television Station for more
than 5 years, during which she conducted independent interviews
and editing to produce news clips, whereby she obtained lots of
media experience and has been granted a honourable title “Top Ten
Reporters” for several times. The series reports “Tribute to the 18th
CPC National Congress- Education over Ten Years” made by her
independently was granted the provincial best news award, the long
news “Swill Control Becoming a Dead Zone, Who Will Supervise
Swill Pigs” was granted the first prize of 2010 Harbin good news,
the special news topic “Whether Money Should Be Paid for Tickets
for Job Fairs” was granted the third prize of 2010 Harbin good news
and such investigative news as “Hard to Register for an Expert
Diagnosis at Hospital, Security Guards Claim to Make It for 100
Yuan”, “Affordable Health Lecture the Elderly Arrive Early to Show
Support” and “Discharge of Toxic Sewage at Night” have aroused
widely social response. So far, she has independently completed the
production of more than 1000 news clips, participated in large-scale
live shows and interviewed a number of provincial and municipal
leaders, and has strong writing skill and good interpersonal skill.
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With practical experiences in administrative management and event
planning, she was tasked to be the editor-in-charge of “City Discovery”
Program in Harbin TV Channel, in charge of managing the routine
interview allocation, rating and grouping issues of journalists of the
program, independently undertaking the preparations to appraisal
of the outstanding news documentaries at year end. Meanwhile,
she also prepared the large-scale live programs including “Voluntary
Journey on Dragon Boat Festival”, “lce City Disembarking by
Braman” and “Footprints of Xiao Hong” and “Urban Caravan”, which
posed extensive attention. She was put in charge for all the exhibition
events of the Group in Harbin International Cold Fair after being
employed by Green Build Technology Co., Ltd., She also undertook
the summit forum of “Creating a Low-carbon City, Constructing a
Green Harbin” and “New opportunity with new business model -
PPP and Longjiang Economic Development Summit Forum 20157,
organised the annual dinner for the Group with great achievement
in promoting the Group’s image. The Group’s monthly and yearly
magazines that in charge by her have been widely spread and also
helped to promote the corporate image.

At the same time, she is also familiar with the various new media
industry, and has unique insights and experiences in microblogging
and Wechat popularization, and played a very positive role in the
all-round digital publicity of enterprises, media promotion and mass
communication.
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Mr Jiang Xikun is the Deputy Vice President of our Green Technology
Division and General Manager of Harbin Shengming Energy Saving
and Technology Co., Ltd. From 1981 to 2013, he serviced as a
clerk, vice section chief, office director, director of the dilapidated
house office, manager of a real estate development company and
director of a housing management department successively, with a
senior professional title. From 1995 to 1999, he served as Director
of Dilapidated House Office of Daoli Real Estate Management
Department, during which he was responsible for the transformation
of dilapidated houses located at No. 50 Hongxia Street, No. 7
Tongjiang Street, No. 114 Anning Street, and No. 99 Jianguo Street
at Daoli District, with a total transformed area of 150,000 square
meters and the renovation of dilapidated houses located at the
intersection of Aidemengdun Road and Zhigong Street, with a
transformed area of 170,000 square meters. In 2000, he served as
Director of Dilapidated House Office of Harbin Housing Group where
he conducted tranformation of dilapidated houses located at Taigu
Street, Daowai District and at the section of Weixin Street, with a total
transformed area of 125,000 square meters. He has been engaged in
housing management, heat supply management, project supervision
and property management. He also participated in the compilation of
the whole book of China Real Estate Encyclopaedia and published
17 thesis in China Real Estate Journal, which state the new ways
of economy development by real estate development, intermediate
project and construction management, social benefits of urban heat
supply and property management and how to tap staff’s potential so
that they can exert greater roles in work, respectively. He has made
a number of speeches to state his opinions and accumulated rich
management and service experience through combination of theory
and practice. He has a good grasp of team management and has
skill effective practical experience.
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Mr Sun Honglei is the Deputy Vice President of our Green
Technology Division and Deputy General Manager of Harbin Utility
Turmell Construction and Management Co., Ltd. He is a National
registered construction engineer, senior engineer, Harbin city green
building Specialized Committee experts. From 2007 to 2012, he
was the vice president of Heilongjiang Zhongmei Building Design
Research Institute Limited Co. and was the chief designer in
numerous major projects carried out by the Harbin government
and also participated as design consultant for numerous other
projects in China, such as the design of India style in Guogeli street;
Nangang city night landscape renovation project design, decoration
business transformation Qiulin architectural design; existing building
decoration and energy-saving design to certain major streets
including Liushun Street, Garden Street, Wenchang street, Jingwei
street; landscape decoration engineering design projects including
Wenchang bridge, eight Street bridge tunnel, Wen Zheng Dacheng
Street Bridge, bridge, Pioneer Road. At the same time, he acted
as technical consultant in many building energy-saving design
including Heihe, Tahe, Zhaodong, Qigihar, Mudanjiang, Yilan, Yanii,
Inner Mongolia province and overseas. He has strong theoretical
foundation and practical experience in such fields as building
decoration, energy-saving renovation and upgrading design. Mr Sun
has also participated in the preparation of the National Standard for
Green Evaluation of Energy-Saving Upgrading of Existing Buildings
as private enterprise representative and the preparation of the
Guidance on Implementation of the Standard for Green Evaluation of
Energy-Saving Upgrading of Existing Buildings.
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Mr Yang Xiaoyu is the Deputy Vice President of our Green Technology
Division. He is a national registered supervision engineer, a senior
engineer, and an adjunct professor of Heilongjiang University of
Science and Technology. When he was in Heilongjiang Local Coal
Industry Administration and Heilongjiang Coal Mine Construction
Co., Ltd. from 1991 to 1999, he achieved his career to deputy
manager, and participated in many key projects. From 2000 to 2003,
he worked in Heilongjiang Province Construction Engineering Group
Co., Ltd. as quality inspector, technician and technical supervisor.
During his tenure, he involved in many projects, such as A City
Science and Technology Park project, Harbin Normal University
Sports Center project, Harbin long-distance telecommunications
hub project, Harbin International Convention and Exhibition Center,
No. 1 comprehensive training center area B and etc. He won several
awards, such as National Quality Engineering Silver Award, China
Construction Engineering Luban Award, the first prize of new
technology promotion projects in Heilongjiang province. He has lots
of practical experience in engineering construction and supervision,
real estate development, coal mine expansion and building energy
conservation and etc.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Sustainability and Corporate Social
Responsibility are in the DNA of Green
Build. They are the foundation of our
corporate philosophy. Our Corporate
Vision, Mission and Values centre on
beinggreen, sustainableandresponsible
to the society and community. We set
our Vision as: “Eliminate Pollution,
Recreate Resources”. We are steadfast
in our Mission “to save energy and
reduce emission through leading
technologies so as to create a bright
and green future”. And we conduct
according to our values to “Volunteer
for environmental change; Promote
harmonious social development”.
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Commitment to Shareholders

Investor Relations (IR)

As a public-listed company, we abide by the compliance rules
in providing transparent, relevant and up-to-date information to
our shareholders and the investing community. We make this
information available in our IR section of our corporate website,
which contains information such as our financial information,
latest announcements, press releases and corporate materials.
We also provide the contact number and email address to our
Singapore office.

Our Board of Directors and Management Team are present at
our Annual General Meeting and Extraordinary General Meetings
to clarify any queries on the resolutions of the meetings as well as
to interact with the shareholders to communicate our business
directions and strategies.

In engaging with the investment community, we organised sharing
session and meetings with analysts, funds and financial media
in 2016. Our Chairman and CEO were present in the meetings
with analysts and institutional investors. Through the interaction
and discussion during the meeting, the investment community in
Singapore were able to understand our business, the nature and
progress of our projects and our growth strategies better.

Commitment to Employees

As a project manager of big infrastructure projects, we have to
regard our employees as important resources that enable us to
set ourselves apart from the competition. It is our employees
and staff that execute, monitor and supervise the projects; hence
we see it a necessity to upgrade their knowledge, competency
and proficiency so that they can achieve to their fullest potential.

At the beginning of 2016, we organised a management retreat to
Sanya, Hainan. During the retreat, the top management shared
the Group’s strategic directions to the various departments,
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and conducted team building activities to create better synergy
among the departments, galvanizing the employees and staff to
work toward a common goal.

To further motivate employees and cultivate loyalty to the
company, we have in place private share placement scheme
for dedicated and deserving employees. Employees who are
committed and have contributed to the Group’s success are
invited to be part of this scheme.

Health & Safety

In conducting the construction work of our projects, we expect
our subcontractors to adhere to strict safety protocols and
ensure acceptable workplace health and safety. All necessary
safety orientations and training are conducted at the worksites.
We aim for zero accident at the worksites and is pleased to
report that there were no accidents on our project sites in 2016.

Training
The company believes that training is the best welfare for staff. It
benefit the staff most by helping them to achieve their potential.

We train our staff internally as well as send them for external
courses to upgrade their knowledge, skills and proficiency.
Internally, we engage our employees holistically by charting
their career progression paths through leadership training
programmes.

Other than knowledge upgrading training, the Group’s CEO also
conducted ideological and moral training to the Group’s staff to
communicate and impart the idea of “attitude decides success
or failure”.

Welfare

Our employees are important resources and the company need
to take care of them to boost their morale and loyalty to the
company, and to foster closer working relationships with one
another. The company organised an internal recruitment exercise
whereby positions will be filled by a competitive selection process
in July 2016. This provided the opportunity for those excellent
staff to be promoted.

The company also organised its jogging competition in June
2016 to promote healthy lifestyle. Staff and employees of all
ages are divided into teams to participate in games to inculcate
active living and foster team spirit.

Commitment to Customers

Our main customer is the provincial government, from which we
get the Public Private Partnership (PPP) infrastructure projects.
Nothing is more pertinent than to ensure that projects progress
on schedule and are executed to specifications.

Our other customers are the residents of the estates which we
upgraded. Our building insulation projects and underground
utility tunnel project bring benefits to the residents. We view
our work as very meaningful to the society and community.
We strive to minimise inconvenience to the residents during
construction as much as possible. We are heartened to receive
commendations and praises from residents of our completed
projects. Such commendations from residents further boost our
morale in ensuring we complete our work properly so that the
residents can have peace of mind.

Our commitment to do well in our projects are known in the
industry. We are the only enterprise that was selected to take up
and complete the model project in external insulation and energy
saving for existing estate. The successful refurbishment of Hebai
estate in its external insulation and central heating system is now
the model for such estate revamp and refurbishment.

Commitment to Community

Our work is community driven, as spelt in our Corporate
Vision, Mission and Values. Apart from bringing benefits to the
community through our estate upgrading projects, we also carried
out week-long publication activities on topic related to integrity,
as well as established the Discipline Inspection Department and
strengthened discipline inspection to improve the enterprise’s
internal control mechanism as part of the enterprise sustainability
development.
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OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

1. Statement of Comprehensive Income

Group

FY2016 FY2015 Increase/
RMB'000 RMB'000 (Decrease)

%

Revenue

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Administrative expenses

Other expenses

Profit from continuing operations
Finance income

Finance cost

Profit before tax from continuing operations
Income tax expense

Net profit for the year from continuing operations

837,640 90,828 822.2%
(799,383) (69,660) 1047.5%
38,257 21,168 80.7%
12 19 (36.8%)
(14,101) (10,530) 33.9%
(829) - N.M
23,339 10,657 119.0%
5,898 743 693.8%
(11,717) (5,740) 104.1%
17,520 5,660 209.5%
(5,489) (3,544) 54.9%
12,031 2,116 468.6%

Profit for the year from discontinued operations, net of tax

Net profit after tax for the year

- 2,403 N.M

12,031 4,519 166.2%

Equity holders of the Company
Profit from continuing operations, net of tax
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax

Non-controlling interest
Loss from continuing operations, net of tax
Profit from discontinued operations, net of tax

Net profit after tax for the year

12,034 2,116 468.7%
- (4,515) N.M
12,034 (2,399) N.M
3 - N.M

- 6,918 N.M
12,031 4,519 166.2%

N.M — Not Meaningful.
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Performance Review - Overall

The Group was awarded an insulation project and an underground
utility tunnel project in FY2015. Both projects are in the form of
Public-Private-Partnership (‘PPP”). The revenue recognition of
these PPP projects is based on the requirements of INT FRS 112,

The revenue from continuing operation contributed positively
to both the Group’s revenue and profitability for FY2016. The
insulation project had been fully completed by December 2016
while the underground utility tunnel project was approximately
68.0% completed as at 31 December 2016. Therefore, the
revenue from continuing operation increased to RMB837.6
million in FY2016 from RMB90.8 million in FY2015. Net profit
from continuing operation after tax attributable to equity holders
of the Company was RMB12.0 million as compared to RMB2.1
million for the corresponding period.

Net profit from continuing operation after tax attributable to equity
holders of the Company fell by RMB5.1 milion from RMB17.1
million earned during the six months ended 30 June 2016 to
RMB12.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2016. This
is mainly due to the unanticipated additional costs of RMB55.9
million incurred for the insulation project. The additional costs were
incurred for the additional work required in certain districts to fulfil
the safety construction standards. Such additional costs are not
compensated by any additional subsidies from the government.

Revenue and Gross Profit

Revenue from continuing operation increased to RMB837.6
million in FY2016, mainly driven by the completion of the
insulation project and the 68.0% completion of underground
utility tunnel project.

The gross profit margin from continuing operation was 4.6%
in FY2016 as compared to 23.3% in FY2015. The decrease
is mainly due to the additional costs incurred for the insulation
project. Besides, the Company made a full provision for
a contract work-in-progress associated with a car park
development project located in the Hebai estate during the
year, amounting to RMB32.0 million. This follows concerns
that the project may not be able to be brought to fruition amid
local residents’ concerns about the impact of the development
on the neighbourhood.

Other Profit & Loss Items

The finance income is mainly related to the finance income of
RMBS5.6 million arising from the service concession arrangements
for the insulation and underground utility tunnel projects.

The increase in administrative expenses from continuing
operation was mainly due to the directors’ remuneration
which has increased by RMB1.3 million based on the service
agreements with two executive directors starting from 1 July
2016. The administrative expenses also increased by RMB0.9
million and RMBO0.5 million in Harbin Superior Construction
Materials Trading Co., Ltd and Harbin Utility Tunnel Construction
and Management Co., Ltd respectively. These two subsidiaries
were incorporated in November 2015.

Finance cost increased by RMB6.0 million in FY2016 was mainly
due to the bank borrowings of RMB428 million obtained during
the year. The finance cost in FY2015 mainly comprised the
interest expense of RMB4.1 million charged on the balances due
to the purchaser of the packaging business.

Income tax expenses mainly relate to the profit generated from
underground utility tunnel projects.

2. Statement of Financial Position

Group

SELECTED DATA 31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
Total assets 813,557 212,322
Contract work-in-progress - 32,355
Trade receivables 578,047 91,864
Other receivables and
prepayments 21,574 84,092
Cash and bank balances 211,659 609
Other assets 2,277 3,402
Total liabilities 746,861 171,417
Trade and bills payables 250,651 38,006
Other payables and accruals 46,408 19,131
Loans and borrowings 433,365 103,316
Other liabilities 16,437 10,964
Total shareholders’ equity 64,777 40,905

Trade receivables (non-current and current) were mainly due to
receivables from government for the insulation and underground
utility tunnel projects. The increase in total trade receivables (both
current and non-current) of RMB486.2 million was mainly due to
the insulation project which was fully completed in December
2016 and the underground utility tunnel project which was
completed by approximately 68.0% as at 31 December 2016.
Receivables amounting to RMB240.9 million was classified
as non-current, since such amount will only be received from
the government after 12 months. As at 31 December 2016,
the outstanding amount of RMB50.5 million was due from
Heilongjiang Jiuli Construction Co., Ltd (“Jiuli”) for the sub-
construction work done for them.

The decrease in contract work-in-progress as at 31 December
2016 was due to full provision made for the construction in
progress for the car park in Hebai Estate during the year.

The prepayments mainly relate to the advances given to the sub-
contractors for the project constructions. It has decreased by
RMB32.4 million to RMB17.1 million in FY2016 mainly due to
the settlement of balances with sub-contractors by year end.

The decrease in other receivables of RMB30.2 million was mainly
due to the settlement of outstanding proceeds from disposal of
packaging business and the receipts of government grant for
Hebai project amounting to RMB25.0 million and RMB6.7 million
respectively in FY2016.

The increase in trade payables and bills payables by RMB212.6
million was in line with the increase in the construction costs.
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The increase in other payables and accruals by RMB27.3 million
was mainly due to the increase in output Value Added Tax (“VAT”)
of RMB16.6 million for the underground utility tunnel project and
the output VAT of RMB10.3 million for the revenue generated in
two subsidiaries.

Increase in loan and borrowings relates to the loans drawn down
from the banks for working capital purpose and partially offset by
the loans from related parties, shareholder and external parties
decreased by RMB98.0 million, due to repayments made during
the year.

Following another profitable period, the Group’s net equity
attributable to the shareholders of the Company amounted
to RMB64.8 million as at 31 December 2016 as compared to
RMB40.9 milion as at 31 December 2015. The Group’s net
current assets position also improved and stood at RMB86.0
million as at 31 December 2016 as compared to RMB38.3
million as at 31 December 2015. The Company was in a net
assets position of RMB11.6 million as at 31 December 2016 as
compared to RMB6.8 million as at 31 December 2015.

Group
FY2016 FY2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
Cash used in operating activities | (142,404) (18,594)
Cash from/(used in) investing
activities 13,170 (34,451)
Cash from financing activities 194,102 47,666
Net increase/(decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents 64,868 (5,379)
Cash and cash equivalents as
at beginning of year 609 5,988
Cash and cash equivalents
at end of year 65,477 609

The net increase in cash and cash equivalents for the year
ended 31 December 2016 was mainly due to net cash from
investing activities of RMB13.2 million and financing activities of
RMB194.1 million respectively, and partially offset by net cash
used in operating activities of RMB142.4 million.

Risk of dependency on the level of the PRC government’s
spending and involvement in energy conservation management
projects. As a significant source of the revenue of the Group’s
Green Technology Business is subsidies granted by the PRC
government, the level of revenue that will be derived from the
Green Technology Business would largely depend on continued
spending by the relevant PRC government and provincial
government to support energy conservation management
projects.

Various factors would affect the nature, scale, location and timing

of the PRC governments’ public investment plans in the energy
conservation management sector in the PRC. These factors

18

include the government’s policy and priorities regarding different
regional economies across the PRC and the general condition
and prospects of the overall economy of the PRC. Any significant
reduction in the PRC governments’ budgets relating to such
energy conservation management sector, will lead to a decline
in revenue arising from a smaller number of projects, lower
contract value for the projects and/or a decline in profit margin
due to competition to secure available projects. This could have
a material and adverse effect on the Green Technology Business.
As such, the Group will try, as far as possible, to source and
tender for sustainable development projects. In addition, manage
and operate the insulation project and the underground utility
tunnel project over a concession period of 10 and 25 years
respectively from 2017. Additional revenue and cash flows are
expected during the concession period.

Risk of reliance on independent sub-contractors to provide
various services

In undertaking the Group’s Green Technology business, the
Group will be engaging independent third party contractors to
provide various services including installation and construction
work for its projects. Even though these third party contractors are
responsible for the quality of their services, there is no assurance
that the services rendered by such independent third party
contractors will always be satisfactory or match the intended
quality level. In the event of any loss or damage which arises
from the default of these independent third party contractors, the
Group may nevertheless be liable for their default.

The Green Technology business will also be dependent on
skilled construction labour, supervisors and managerial staff
with experience in the green architecture and green technology
industry. Any dearth in the availability of such labour resources
will have an adverse effect on the operations and eventually its
financial performance.

Furthermore, the Group manages its cash flows partially by
structuring the projects such that the third party contractors will
finance or obtain financing for the construction activities and the
Group will only make payment to these third party contractors in
agreed tranches upon satisfactory completion of such activities.
There is a risk that any of the contractors may experience
financial or other difficulties which may affect their ability to carry
out their works, thus affecting and delaying the completion of
the Group’s projects and/or resulting in additional costs to the
Group. Should any of the contractors fail to meet the required
standards and suitable replacement contractors are not engaged
in time, the Group’s business and financial performance may be
materially and adversely affected. Any such failure on the part
of the contractors may also result in adverse publicity for the
Group, which in turn may have an adverse impact on the Group’s
reputation, prospects and growth.

In mitigating these risks, the Group employs a stringent process
in its selection of third party sub-contractors on its projects.

Risk of increases in raw material costs

The raw materials that the Group utilise comprise construction
materials like thermal cladding, doors and windows and green
architecture for the green technology projects. In order to ensure
timely completion of the projects, the Group needs to obtain
sufficient quantities of good quality raw materials at acceptable
prices in a timely manner. As it is common practice in the
industry not to have formal long-term supply arrangements with
the suppliers, there is no assurance that the Group will be able
to obtain sufficient quantities from suppliers of raw material of
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acceptable quality and at acceptable price in a timely manner.
Further, fluctuations in the prices of these raw materials will
have a significant impact on the profit margins and hence the
profitability. Such fluctuations has a direct impact on the prices
of raw materials. The lack of availability of these raw materials
will also have a significant impact on the Group’s operations.

Project Expansion Risk

The Group has expanded its business to include those of
upgrading existing infrastructure using green architecture and
green technology, which is a relatively young industry in the
PRC. In October 2015, the Group further announced that it had
secured a underground utility tunnel project which involves the
construction of underground utility tunnel covering a length of
about 12 km in the Southern Harbin Industrial New Town area
and the Harbin airport area, and will be entitled to manage and
operate the underground utility tunnel project over a concession
period of 25 years from 2017. This rapid expansion brings along
certain associated risks and may put a strain on the Group’s
resources. However, the Group is confident that its strong
management team and its quality third party sub-contractors
will ensure that the Group will always be able to continue to
strengthen the core competencies and adopt a strategy of
cautious expansion.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or
counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables
from customers.

The carrying amounts of financial assets in the statements of
financial position represent the Group and the Company’s

respective maximum exposures to credit risk, before taking into
account any collateral held. The Group and the Company do not
hold any collateral in respect of their financial assets.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade and
other receivables. The Group and the Company minimise credit
risk by dealing exclusively with high credit rating counterparties.

The Group has established a credit policy under which each new
customer is analysed individually for creditworthiness before the
Group’s standard payment and delivery terms and conditions
are offered. The Group’s review includes external ratings, when
available, and in some cases bank references. Customers failing
to meet the Group’s benchmark creditworthiness may transact
with the Group only on a prepayment basis. In addition, for
transactions that do not occur in the country of the relevant
operating unit, the Group does not offer credit terms without
the specific approval of management. As the Group trades
only with recognised and creditworthy third parties, there is no
requirement for collateral.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty
in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities
that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The
Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as
possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its
liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions,
without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the
Group’s reputation.
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Typically the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand
to meet expected operational expenses, including the servicing
of financial obligations; this excludes the potential impact of
extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted,
such as natural disasters.

The Group relies on continuing financial support from the
Group’s bankers. The Group’s and the Company’s liquidity risk
management policy is to maintain sufficient liquid financial assets
and credit facilities with reputable banks. Substantial amounts
of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are deposited with
reputable financial institutions such as DBS Bank Ltd, Bank of
Communications, Agricultural Bank of China, China Construction
Bank and etc. so as to provide the Group with the flexibility to
meet working capital and capital investment needs.

Currency risk

The Group operates predominantly in the People’s Republic
of China (“PRC”) and usually transacts in Renminbi (“RMB”),
the official currency in China. Currently, the PRC government
imposes control over foreign currencies. RMB is not freely
convertible. Enterprises operating in the PRC can enter into
exchange transactions through the People’s Bank of China or
other authorised financial institutions. Payments for imported
materials or services and remittance of earnings of the
subsidiaries to the Company, which is outside of the PRC, are
subject to the availability of foreign currencies which depends
on the foreign currency denominated earnings of the enterprise,
or exchanges of RMB for foreign currency must be arranged
through the People’s Bank of China or other authorised financial
institutions. Approval for exchanges at the People’s Bank of
China or other authorised financial institutions is granted to
enterprises in the PRC for valid reasons such as purchase of
imported materials and remittance of earnings. While conversion
of RMB into Singapore dollars or other currencies can generally
be effected at the People’s Bank of China or other authorised
financial institutions, there is no guarantee that it can be effected
at all times.

The Group does not have significant currency exposures.

Transactional currency exposures arising from sales or purchases
that are denominated in a currency other than the respective
functional currencies of Group entities, primarily SGD and RMB,
are not significant.

The Group manages its foreign exchange exposure risk by
matching, as far as possible, receipts and payments in each
individual currency. Foreign currency is converted into the
relevant functional currency as and when the management
deemed necessary. The unhedged exposure is reviewed and
monitored closely on an ongoing basis and management will
consider hedging any material exposure where appropriate.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s and Company’s exposure to interest rate risk arises
primarily from interest-bearing loans and borrowings. The Group
does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge its interest
rate risk.

The Group policy is to manage interest cost using a mix of fixed
and floating rate debts.
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After disposal of the packaging business, the Group recorded
another year of profitability in FY2016. The earnings per share
from continuing operations for FY2016 was RMB 4.91 cents
compared to RMB 0.89 cents in FY2015. The net asset value
per share for FY2016 was RMB 26.42 cents as compared to
RMB 17.13 cents in FY2015.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Board of Directors
does not recommend any dividends payout as the Group is
currently in a rapid expansion phase for its new green technology
business and foresees better use of this cash flows being
plough back to operations compared to a dividend payout.
The Board of Directors will continue to work hard to generate
greater shareholder value and returns and is looking forward to
continued positive contributions from the new income stream
brought in by the Group’s green technology business.

As at 31 December 2016, the insulation project had been fully
completed while the underground utility tunnel project has been
completed up to approximately 68.0%. Upon the completion of
these two projects, the Group will be entitled to manage and
operate the insulation project and the underground utility tunnel
project over a concession period of 10 and 25 years respectively
from 2017. Additional revenue and cash flows are expected
during the concession period.

During the financial year under review, Harbin Shengming
Energy Saving and Technology Co., Ltd (“Shengming”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company entered into a strategic
framework agreement (the “Strategic Framework Agreement”)
with Zhongjieneng Liuhe Tianrong Environmental Conservation
Technology Co., Ltd (“Zhongjieneng”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of China Energy Conservation and Environmental Protection
Group. The Strategic Framework Agreement provides, inter
alia, that Zhongjieneng will first set up Zhongjieneng Shengming
Intelligence Urban Construction Co., Ltd, a company in the PRC
(the “New Entity”) to undertake projects in the PRC. Shengming
shall be responsible for seeking such projects in the name
of the New Entity after its establishment. Under the terms of
the Strategic Framework Agreement, any profits or income
generated from the new projects awarded to the New Entity
pursuant to the terms of the Strategic Framework Agreement
will be divided amongst Zhongjieneng and Shengming equally.

Management will continuously source and tender for sustainable
development projects in 2017. The Group is optimistic of
its green technology business as the market for its energy
conservation services and sustainable development solution is
immensely huge in China.
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The Board of Directors and Management are committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance by complying
with the principles and guidelines of the revised Code of Governance 2012 (the “Code”) issued by the Corporate Governance
Committee.

Good corporate governance is integral to a sound corporation as it promotes corporate transparency and protects and
enhances shareholders’ interest. This statement outlines the main corporate governance practices and processes that were
in place since the financial year beginning on 1 January 2016 and ended on 31 December 2016 (“FY2016”) and provides the
rationale for areas where the Company has deviated from the Code.

(A)

BOARD MATTERS
Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

Principle 1:  Every company should be headed by an effective Board to lead and control the company. The Board is
collectively responsible for the success of the company. The Board works with Management to achieve
this and the Management remains accountable to the Board.

In FY2016, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) comprised three (3) Executive Directors and three (3) Non-Executive
and Independent Directors, all possessing the right core competencies and diversity of experience which enabled them
to effectively contribute to the Group.

Mr Zhao Lizhi, with effect from 1 March 2016, had been re-designated as the Company’s Executive Chairman. Mr
Li Mingyang, with effect from 1 March 2016, had been appointed as the Chief Business Development Officer and
Executive Director. With effect from 8 March 2016, Mr Li Bin resigned as an Executive Director of the Company. Mr Lu
King Seng resigned as an Independent Director of the Company with effect from 1 April 2016. Mr Gallen Tay Wi Keng
and Mr Dong Congwen, with effect from 1 July 2016, had been appointed as Non-Executive and Independent Directors
of the Company. Dr Yao Fengge, with effect from 1 July 2016, had resigned as an Independent Director of the Company.
As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board comprises the following members:

Mr Zhao Lizhi (Executive Chairman)

Ms Wu Xueying (Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director)

Mr Li Mingyang (Chief Business Development Officer and Executive Director)

Mr Kuan Cheng Tuck (Non-Executive and Independent Director)

Mr Gallen Tay Wi Keng (Non-Executive and Independent Director)

Mr Dong Congwen (Non-Executive and Independent Director)

The Board is responsible for:

(a) approving the Group’s key business strategies and financial objectives;

(b) overseeing the conduct of the Group’s business to evaluate whether the business is being properly managed;

(c) establishing a framework for proper internal controls and risk management;

(d) the Group’s compliance to laws, regulations, policies, directives, guidelines and internal code of conduct; and

(e) the satisfactory fulfilment of social responsibilities of the Group.

Board Processes

To assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Board has established a number of Board Committees including
a Nominating Committee (the “NC”), a Remuneration Committee (the “RC”), and an Audit Committee (the “AC”).

The effectiveness of each committee is constantly monitored. The Board has also established a framework for the
management of the Group including a system of internal control.
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The Board currently holds at least two (2) scheduled meetings each year. It also holds additional meetings at such other
times as may be necessary to address any specific significant matters that may arise. The Company’s Constitution
allows meetings to be conducted by way of a telephone conference or by means of similar communications equipment
whereby all persons participating in the meetings are able to hear each other. The agenda for meetings is prepared
in consultation with the Group’s Executive Chairman. Standing items include financial reports, strategic matters,
governance, business risk issues and compliance, where applicable and relevant. Executive officers may, from time to
time, be invited to attend Board meetings to provide updates on operational matters.

The Board conducts an annual review of its processes to ensure that it is able to carry out its functions in the most
effective manner.

Board and Board Committee Meetings held in FY2016

For FY2016, the Board held 3 meetings and the attendance of each Director at the Board and Board Committee
meetings is as follows:

Name Board Audit Nominating Remuneration
Committee Committee Committee

No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of
meetings | meetings | meetings | meetings | meetings | meetings | meetings | meetings
held attended held attended held attended held attended

Zhao Lizhi

M ¢ Q)
(Executive Chairman) 3 4 1 1
Wu Xueying
(Chief Executive Officer 3 40 10 10

and Executive Director)

Kuan Cheng Tuck
(Non-Executive and 3 4 1 1
Independent Director)

Lu King Seng®
(Non-Executive and 1 2 1 1
Independent Director) 3 4 1 1

Li Mingyang®

(Chief Business
Development Officer and
Executive Director)

o o) 10 10

Gallen Tay Wi Keng®
(Non-Executive and 1 2 - -
Independent Director)

Dong Congwen®)
(Non-Executive and 1 2 - -
Independent Director)

Li Bin® - - - -
(Executive Director)

Yao Fengge™ 1 1 1 1
(Non-Executive and
Independent Director)

Notes:

™ Attendance by invitation. Mr Li Mingyang attended one of the Board meetings by invitation prior to his appointment as an
Executive Director on 1 March 2016.

@ Mr Li Bin resigned as an Executive Director of the Company with effect from 8 March 2016.
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® Mr Lu King Seng resigned as an Independent Director of the Company with effect from 1 April 2016.
@ Dr Yao Fengge resigned as an Independent Director of the Company with effect from 1 July 2016.
® Mr Li Mingyang was appointed the Chief Business Development Officer and Executive Director of the Company with effect

from 1 March 2016.

© Mr Gallen Tay Wi Keng was appointed as a Non-Executive and Independent Director of the Company with effect from 1 July
2016.
@ Mr Dong Congwen was appointed as a Non-Executive and Independent Director of the Company with effect from 1 July 2016.

Matters Requiring Board Approval

The Company has prepared a document with guidelines setting forth the matters reserved for the Board’s decision
and clear directions to Management on matters that must be approved by the Board. The document specifies that the
Board’s approval is required for matters such as corporate restructuring, mergers and acquisitions, major investments,
material acquisitions and disposals of assets, major corporate policies on key areas of operations, the release of the
Group’s half-yearly and annual results, interested person transactions of a material nature, and declaration of interim
dividends and proposal of final dividends.

All other matters are delegated to Board Committees whose actions are reported to and monitored by the Board. The
Board does not abdicate its responsibility for such delegations of authority.

Training of Directors

The Company provides a formal letter upon the appointment of new Directors. Directors receive comprehensive and
tailored induction on joining the Board including their duties as Directors and how to discharge those duties, including
a comprehensive orientation programme presented by the Chief Executive Officer. Directors are also provided with
updates on the relevant new laws, regulations and changing commercial risks in the Group’s operating environment
through regular presentations and meetings; and they also have the opportunity to visit the Group’s operational facilities
in the People’s Republic of China and meet with Management to gain a better understanding of business operations.

The Company does not have a formal training program for new Directors. However, to assist the Board in discharging its
duties, newly appointed Directors will be briefed on the business operations and regulatory issues relating to the Group
to ensure that they are familiar with the Group’s business and governance practices and be provided with a formal letter
setting out the Director’s duties and obligations. Directors are also informed of regulatory changes affecting the Group.
In addition, the Board encourages its members to participate in seminars and receive training to improve themselves
in the discharge of their duties as Directors. The Company understands that some of the Independent Directors have
participated in seminars and receive training to improve themselves in the discharge of their duties as Directors. The
Company will also share its industry-specific knowledge with Directors as appropriate and may hire professionals to
provide training for first-time Directors in areas such as financial reporting matters and legal rights and responsibilities
of directors as appropriate.

Board Composition and Balance

Principle 2:  There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is able to exercise objective
judgment on corporate affairs independently, in particular, from Management and 10% shareholders. No
individual or small group of individuals should be allowed to dominate the Board’s decision making.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board comprises six (6) Directors of which three (3) are Independent Directors.
The three (3) Independent Directors are Mr Kuan Cheng Tuck, Mr Gallen Tay Wi Keng and Mr Dong Congwen. The
criterion of independence is based on the definition given in the Code. The Board and the NC consider a Director to
be “independent” if he has no relationship with the Company, its related corporations, its 10% shareholders or its
officers that could interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of that Director's independent
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business judgement with a view to the best interests of the Company. The Board and the NC are of the opinion that the
Independent Directors satisfy these criteria. The NC is of the opinion that the Independent Directors are independent in
character and judgement and that there are no relationships or circumstances which are likely to affect, or could appear
to affect, their judgement. As at the date of this Annual Report, there are no Independent Directors of the Company
who sit on the board of any of the Company’s principal subsidiaries.

The composition of the Board is determined in accordance with the following principles:

(a) the Board and its Board Committees should comprise a sufficient number of Directors to fulfil its responsibilities
and who as a group provide an appropriate balance and diversity of skills, experience, gender and knowledge
of the Company. They also provide core competencies such as accounting or finance, business or management
experience, industry knowledge, strategic planning experience and customer-based experience or knowledge
(this number may be increased where it is felt that additional expertise is required in specific areas, or when an
outstanding candidate is identified);

(b) the Board should comprise a majority of Non-executive Directors, with at least half of the Board made up of
Independent Non-executive Directors; and

(c) the Board should have enough Directors to serve on various committees of the Board without overburdening the
Directors or making it difficult for them to fully discharge their responsibilities.

With three (3) out of six (6) Directors deemed to be independent, the Board is able to exercise independent judgment
on corporate affairs and provide management with a diverse and objective perspective on issues. Furthermore, the
Board will be able to interact and work with the management team through a robust exchange of ideas and views to
help shape the Group’s strategic direction.

The composition of the Board is reviewed on an annual basis by the NC to ensure that the Board has the appropriate
mix of expertise and experience, and collectively possesses the necessary core competencies for effective functioning
and informed decision-making. When a vacancy arises under any circumstance, or where it is considered that the
Board would benefit from the services of a new Director with particular skills, the NC, in consultation with the Board,
determines the selection criteria and selects candidates with the appropriate expertise and experience for the position.

Independent members of the Board exercise no management functions in the Company or any of its subsidiaries.
Although all the Directors have equal responsibility for the performance of the Group, the role of the Independent
Directors is particularly important in reviewing and monitoring the performance of executive management in meeting
the Group’s agreed goals and objectives and ensuring that the strategies proposed by the executive management
are fully discussed and rigorously examined taking into account the long-term interests, not only of the shareholders,
but also of employees, customers, suppliers and the many communities in which the Group conducts business. The
Board considers its Non-executive and Independent Directors to be of sufficient calibre and number and their views
to be of sufficient weight that no individual or small group can dominate the Board’s decision-making processes. The
Independent Directors have no financial or contractual interests in the Group other than by way of their fees as set out
in this statement.

The Board is of the view that its current composition of six (6) Directors is appropriate taking into account the scope
and nature of the operations of the Company and of the Group, the requirements of the business and the need to avoid
undue disruptions from changes to the composition of the Board and Board Committees.

Other key information on the individual Directors of the Company is set out in pages 6 to 9 of this Annual Report. Their
shareholdings in the Company are also disclosed in the Directors’ Statement. None of the Directors hold shares in the
subsidiaries of the Company.
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Executive Chairman

Principle 3:  There should be a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership of the Board and the
executives responsible for managing the company’s business. No one individual should represent a
considerable concentration of power.

The Group’s Executive Chairman, Mr Zhao Lizhi, plays an instrumental role in developing the business of the Group
and provides the Group with strong leadership and vision.

The Executive Chairman’s role is to:
(a) lead the Board to ensure its effectiveness on all aspects of its role;

(b) set the agenda and ensure that adequate time is available for discussion of all agenda items, in particular
strategic issues;

(c) promote a culture of openness and debate at the Board;

(d) ensure that the Directors receive complete, adequate and timely information;

(e) ensure effective communication with shareholders;

(f) encourage constructive relations within the Board and between the Board and Management;
(9) facilitate the effective contribution of Independent and Non-executive Directors in particular; and
(h) promote high standards of corporate governance.

The responsibilities set out above provide guidance and should not be taken as a comprehensive list of all the duties
and responsibilities of an executive chairman.

As at the date of this Annual Report, Mr Zhao Lizhi is the Executive Chairman of the Company. The Company notes
that Mr Zhao had been the Company’s Non-executive Chairman from 1 January 2016 to 29 February 2016 in FY2016.
However, Mr Zhao had been involved in day-to-day management of the Company and its subsidiaries, and Management
had also frequently approached Mr Zhao for his advice in relation to the Group’s business. As such, the Company had
accordingly re-designated Mr Zhao as the Executive Chairman of the Company on 1 March 2016. In addition, the
Company has also appointed Ms Wu Xueying as its Chief Executive Officer. In view of the key position played by the
Group’s Executive Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer, the Board has appointed three (3) Independent Directors
to ensure that a channel of communication is always available to shareholders where they have concerns and where
contact through normal channels of the Group’s Executive Chairman, or the Financial Controller has failed to resolve
the concerns. The Company will review and consider the appointment of a lead Independent Director in future.

All major decisions like substantial acquisitions, material contracts, acquisitions of banking facilities made by Executive
Chairman are under the purview of review by the AC. His performance and appointment to the Board will be reviewed
periodically by the NC and his remuneration package will be reviewed periodically by the RC. As such, the Board
believes that there are adequate safeguards in place against an uneven concentration of power and authority in a
single individual.

The Board has no dissenting view on the Group’s Executive Chairman’s statement for the year under review.
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Board Membership

Principle 4:  There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment and re-appointment of directors to
the Board.

At the beginning of FY2016, the NC comprised Mr Kuan Cheng Tuck as the Chairman, and Mr Lu King Seng and Dr
Yao Fengge as its members. Following the resignations of Mr Lu King Seng on 1 April 2016 and Dr Yao Fengge on
1 July 2016 as Directors of the Company, as well as and the appointments of Mr Gallen Tay Wi Keng and Mr Dong
Congwen as Directors of the Company on 1 July 2016, the NC has been reconstituted to comprise Mr Kuan Cheng
Tuck, Mr Gallen Tay and Mr Dong Congwen, with Mr Gallen Tay Wi Keng appointed as the Chairman of the NC. All
members of the NC are independent.

The Board has approved the written terms of reference of the NC. The NC performs the following functions:

(a) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment of new Executive and Non-executive Directors,
including making recommendations on the composition and progressive renewal of the Board and review each
Director's competencies, commitment, contribution and performance (for example, attendance, preparedness,
participation and candour) including, if applicable, whether he remains independent in the case of the
Independent Directors and the balance between Executive and Non-executive Directors appointed to the Board;

(b) to regularly review the Board structure, size and composition and make recommendations to the Board with
regards to any adjustments that are deemed necessary;

(c) to determine the process for search, nomination, selection and appointment of new Board members and be
responsible for assessing the requisite qualifications and fulfilment of being independent of the nominees or
candidates for appointment or election to the Board;

(d) to make plans for succession, in particular for the Executive Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer;

(e) to determine, on an annual basis, and as and when circumstances require, if a Director is independent. If the
NC determines that a Director, who has one (1) or more of the relationships mentioned under the Code is in
fact independent, the Company should disclose in full, the nature of the Director’s relationship and provide its
views to the Board for the Board’s consideration. The NC may at its discretion determine a Director as non-
independent even if he/she has no business or other relationships with the Company, its related companies or
its officers and should similarly provide its views to the Board for the Board’s consideration;

() to recommend Directors who are retiring by rotation to be put forward for re-election;

(9) to decide whether or not a Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his/her duties as a Director
of the Company, particularly when he/she has multiple board representations taking into consideration the
Director’s number of listed company board representations and other principal commitments;

(h) to be responsible for assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and for assessing the effective
contribution and commitment of each individual Director to the effectiveness of the Board. The results of the
performance evaluation will be reviewed by the Chairman of the NC and the assessment shall be disclosed
annually; and

(i) to review training and professional development programs for the Board.

In the event there is a need to change the structure of the Board, the chairmanship of the Company or the membership
of the Board Committees, the NC will review the change to be implemented and make recommendations to the Board
accordingly. For the new appointment of Directors, the NC will, in consultation with the Board, examine the existing
Board’s strength, capabilities and the existing Directors’ contribution of skills, knowledge and experience to the Group
and the Board. The NC will take into account the future needs of the Group and together with the Board, it will seek
candidates who are able to contribute to the Group. The NC will attempt to seek candidates widely and beyond persons
directly known to the existing Directors and recommend suitable candidates to the Board and if such candidates are
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appointed, announcements relating to their appointment shall be released via SGXNET. In the event of the cessation
of appointment of any Director or executive officer, the NC will conduct exit interviews with such Director or executive
officer, as the case may be, and announcements relating to such cessation(s) will also be released via SGXNET.

The NC has in place internal guidelines to address the conflict of competing time commitments of Directors serving on
multiple boards. If a Director is on the board of other companies, the NC shall consider whether he/she has been able
to devote adequate time and attention to the affairs of the Group. In the event there are sufficient grounds for complaint,
the Chairman of the Board will on the advice of the NC, discuss, and if necessary, advise the Director concerned of the
issues and the consequences of failure to rectify the situation within the period required.

The current Board members generally have not more than three (3) directorships in other listed companies, which, in
the opinion of the NC, means that they have sufficient energy and time to focus on the affairs of the Group. As such, the
NC has currently not set a limit on the number of Directors’ directorships in other listed companies. The NC will however
not rule out the requirement to set limits subsequently on its Directors’ directorships in other listed companies should
subsequent situations warrant such action. After conducting reviews, the NC is satisfied that currently the Directors
have been able to devote adequate time and attention to the affairs of the Group and that they are able to satisfy their
duties as Directors to the Company.

The Directors submit themselves for re-nomination and re-election at regular intervals of at least once every three
(3) years. Article 91 of the Company’s Constitution provides that one-third (1/3) of the Board or the number nearest
to one third (1/3) is to retire by rotation and be subject to re-election at every Annual General Meeting (“AGM”). In
addition, Article 97 of the Company’s Constitution also provides that newly appointed Directors are required to submit
themselves for re-nomination and re-appointment at the next AGM of the Company.

The Board recognises the contribution of its Independent Directors who over time have developed deep insight into
the Group’s businesses and operations and who are therefore able to provide invaluable contributions to the Group. As
such, the Board has not set a fixed term of office for each of its Independent Directors so as to be able to retain the
services of the Directors as necessary.

The dates of the appointment and last re-election of each Director as at the date of this Annual Report as well as their
directorships in listed companies (other than their directorship in the Company) are set out below:

Directorship in Listed Company
Name of Director Date of Date of Last -
Appointment Re-election Present Past Preceding
3 years
Zhao Lizhi® 18 July 2014 21 April 2015 - -
Wu Xueying 11 March 2014 29 April 2016 - -
Li Mingyang 1 March 2016 29 April 2016 - -
Kuan Cheng Tuck® 10 June 2014 21 April 2015 CNMC Goldmine -
Holdings Limited
Kori Holdings Limited
CW Group Holdings
Limited®
Gallen Tay Wi Keng® 1 July 2016 - - -
Dong Congwen®) 1 July 2016 - - -

Notes:

M Mr Zhao Lizhi was last re-elected on 21 April 2015, therefore in accordance with the Company’s Constitution, he will be
subject to re-election at this forthcoming AGM.

@ Mr Kuan Cheng Tuck was last re-elected on 21 April 2015, therefore in accordance with the Company’s Constitution, he will be
subject to re-election at this forthcoming AGM.
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® Listed on the Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited.

@ Mr Gallen Tay Wi Keng was appointed as a Director of the Company with effect from 1 July 2016, and therefore in accordance
with the Company’s Constitution, he will be subject to re-appointment at this forthcoming AGM.

® Mr Dong Congwen was appointed as a Director of the Company with effect from 1 July 2016, and therefore in accordance with
the Company’s Constitution, he will be subject to re-appointment at this forthcoming AGM.

Board Performance

Principle 5:  There should be a formal annual assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and its board
committees and the contribution by the directors to the effectiveness of the Board.

The NC has established a process for assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and its Board Committees
and for assessing the contribution by the Executive Chairman and each individual Director to the effectiveness of the
Board. The performance criteria which have been approved by the Board for the Board evaluation includes an evaluation
of the size and composition of the Board, the Board’s access to information, accountability, Board processes, and Board
performance in relation to discharging its principal responsibilities. In its assessment, the NC takes into consideration
the frequency of the Board meetings, Board independence, the rate at which issues raised are adequately dealt with,
the effectiveness of the Board Committees, and reports from the various Board Committees. Given the relatively small
size of the Board, the Board and the NC are of the opinion that there is no need at present to conduct a separate
formal assessment of the Board Committees other than the assessments being carried out in respect of individual
Directors and the Board.

The Board and the NC evaluate individual Directors on whether each Director continues to contribute effectively and
demonstrate commitment to the role (including commitment of time for Board and Board Committee meetings, and
any other duties) and have endeavoured to ensure that Directors appointed to the Board possess the experience,
knowledge and skills critical to the Group’s business, so as to enable the Board to make sound and well-considered
decisions. The NC also considers whether the Director has a reasonable understanding of the Group’s business and
the industry, the Director’s working relationship with the other members of the Board, as well as feedback from other
Directors.

With respect to FY2016 and after due evaluation, the NC considered the performance of each individual Director and
the Board to be satisfactory. For avoidance of doubt, each member of the NC abstains from voting on any resolution in
respect of the assessment of his performance or re-nomination as Director.

Access to Information

Principle 6:  In order to fulfil their responsibilities, Board members should be provided with complete, adequate and
timely information prior to Board meetings and on an on-going basis so as to enable them to make
informed decisions to discharge their duties and responsibilities.

Directors receive a regular supply of complete, adequate information, in a timely manner from Management about
the Group and are entitled to request from Management and should be provided with such additional information as
needed to make informed decisions so that they are equipped to play as full a part as possible in Board meetings.
Detailed Board papers are prepared for each meeting of the Board. The Board papers include sufficient information
from Management on financial, business, and corporate issues to enable Directors to be properly briefed on issues
to be considered at Board meetings. Information provided includes background or explanatory information relating to
matters to be brought before the Board, and copies of disclosure documents, budgets, forecasts and internal financial
statements, including explanations for any material variance between projections and actual results. New releases
issued by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”) and Accounting and Corporate Regulatory
Authority which are relevant to the Directors are circulated to the Board. The Company Secretary also informs the
Directors of upcoming conferences and seminars relevant to their roles as Directors of the Company.
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All Directors have unrestricted access to the Group’s records and information and receive detailed financial and
operational reports from senior Management during the year to enable them to carry out their duties. Directors also
liaise with senior Management as required, and may consult with other employees and seek additional information on
request.

All Directors have separate and independent access to the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary administers,
attends and prepares minutes of Board meetings, and assists the Executive Chairman in ensuring that Board
procedures are followed and reviewed so that the Board functions effectively, as well as the Board’s compliance with
the Company’s Constitution and relevant rules and regulations, including requirements of the Companies Act (Cap. 50)
of Singapore (the “Companies Act’) and the SGX-ST. The Company Secretary ensures that good information flows
within the Board and its Board Committees and between Management and Non-executive Directors, advises the Board
on all governance matters, facilitates orientation, and assists with professional development as required.

Should Directors, whether as a group or individually, need independent professional advice in the furtherance of their
duties, the cost of such professional advice will be borne by the Company.

REMUNERATION MATTERS

Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

Principle 7:  There should be a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on executive remuneration and
for fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors. No director should be involved in deciding his
own remuneration.

At the beginning of FY2016, the RC comprised Mr Lu King Seng as the Chairman, and Mr Kuan Cheng Tuck and Dr

Yao Fengge as members. Following the resignations of Mr Lu King Seng on 1 April 2016 and Dr Yao Fengge on 1 July

2016 as Directors of the Company, as well as the appointments of Mr Gallen Tay Wi Keng and Mr Dong Congwen as

Directors of the Company on 1 July 2016, the RC was re-constituted to comprise Mr Kuan Cheng Tuck, Mr Gallen Tay

Wi Keng and Mr Dong Congwen, with Mr Kuan Cheng Tuck appointed as the Chairman of the RC.

The Board has approved the written terms of reference of the RC. The RC performs the following functions:

(a) to review and recommend to the Board, a general framework of remuneration and to determine the specific
remuneration packages and terms of employment for:

(i) each Director;
(i) the Executive Chairman (or executive of equivalent rank);
(ili)  senior management of the Group; and
(iv)  employees related to Directors or, substantial shareholders of the Group;
(b) meetings of the RC are be held as the RC deems appropriate. The RC meets at least once a year and meetings
are be organised so that attendance is maximised. Meetings may be called, at any other time, by the Chairman

of the RC or any member of the RC. Directors or Management may be invited to the meetings;

(c) the Secretary of the RC is the Company Secretary for the time being or, such other person as may be nominated
by the RC;

(d) the Company Secretary attends all meetings and minutes the proceedings thereof;

(e) minutes of all meetings are confirmed by the Chairman of the meeting and circulated to all members of the RC;
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) if the Chairman of the RC so decides, the minutes are also circulated to other members of the Board. Any
Director may, provided there is no conflict of interest and with the agreement of the Chairman, obtain copies of
the minutes of RC meetings;

(9) the notice of each meeting of the RC, confirming the venue, date and time and enclosing an agenda of items
to be discussed, are other than under exceptional circumstances, forwarded to each member of the RC at least
three (3) working days prior to the date of the meeting;

(h) to recommend to the Board any performance bonus schemes which may be set up from time to time and to do
all acts necessary in connection therewith; and

(i) to carry out its duties in the manner that it deems expedient, subject always to any regulations or restrictions
that may be imposed upon the RC by the Board of Directors from time to time.

As part of its review, the RC shall ensure that:

(A)  all aspects of remuneration including Directors’ fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, options and benefits-in-kind
should be covered;

(B) the remuneration packages should be comparable within the industry and comparable companies and shall
include a performance-related element;

(C) the remuneration package of employees related to Directors or controlling shareholders of the Group are in line
with the Group’s staff remuneration guidelines and commensurate with their respective job scopes and levels of
responsibility;

(D)  existing relationships, if any, between the Company and its appointed remuneration consultants will not affect the
independence and objectivity of the remuneration consultants; and

(E) the Executive Directors’ and key management personnel’s contracts of service contain fair and reasonable
termination clauses which are not overly generous.

If necessary, the RC should seek expert advice inside and/or outside the Company on remuneration of all Directors.
The members of the RC do not participate in any decision concerning their own remuneration.
Level and Mix of Remuneration

Principle 8:  The level and structure of remuneration should be aligned with the long-term interest and risk policies of
the company and should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate (a) the directors to provide good
stewardship of the company, and (b) key management personnel to successfully manage the company.
However, companies should avoid paying more for this purpose.

A significant proportion of Executive Directors’ remuneration is structured so as to link rewards to corporate and
individual performance.

The Group’s remuneration policy is to provide compensation packages appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the
Directors and key personnel required to run the Group successfully.

The remuneration of the Executive Chairman, Mr Zhao Lizhi is based on the terms of the service agreement entered
into between Mr Zhao Lizhi and the Company effective 1 March 2016. The aforesaid service agreement shall continue
unless otherwise terminated by either party giving not less than six (6) months’ notice in writing to the other.

In determining the remuneration of the Non-executive Directors, the RC ensures that the level of remuneration is
appropriate to the level of contribution, taking into account factors such as effort and time spent and responsibilities
of the Non-executive Directors. The RC ensures that Non-executive Directors are not over-compensated to the extent
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that their independence may be compromised. The Board will, if necessary, consult experts on the remuneration of
Non-executive Directors. The Board will recommend the remuneration of the Non-executive Directors for approval at the
AGM.

With regard to the remuneration of other key executives, the RC, together with Management, reviews proposals
which are made by the Executive Directors. The remuneration policy for the key management executives takes
into consideration the Group’s performance, and the responsibility and performance of individual key management
executives. The latter is measured by goals and objectives set for each key management executive in congruence with
the Group’s overall goals and objectives. None of the employees in the Company or any of its principal subsidiaries
whose remuneration exceed S$50,000 during the year is a relative of a Director or Substantial Shareholder of the
Company or any of its principal subsidiaries. In addition, the Group is of the view that there is no requirement to institute
contractual provisions to allow the Company to reclaim incentive components of Executive Directors’ remuneration paid
in prior years in exceptional circumstances of misstatement of financial results, or of misconduct resulting in financial
loss as they owe a fiduciary duty to the Company and the Company should be able to avail itself to remedies against
the Executive Directors in the event of such breach of fiduciary duties.

Disclosure on Remuneration

Principle 9:  Every company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policies, level and mix of remuneration,
and the procedure for setting remuneration, in the company’s Annual Report. It should provide disclosure
in relation to its remuneration policies to enable investors to understand the link between remuneration
paid to directors and key management personnel, and performance.

The total remuneration and detailed breakdown of the top executives of the Group is not disclosed in this Annual
Report due to confidentiality and to avoid poaching of the Group’s staff. The Group is not disclosing the remuneration of

the Executive Directors to the nearest thousand but in bands of S$100,000 for similar reasons.

Details of remuneration paid to the Directors and the Group’s key executives for FY2016 are set out below:

Remuneration Band and Name Fees Salary Bonus Others Total
(%) (%) (%) (%) (%)

Directors who are paid between S$150,001 to S$200,000
Li Mingyang™ - 100 - - 100
Wu Xueying - 93.7 - 6.3 100
Directors who are paid between S$100,001 to S$150,000

- [ - [ [ T T
Directors who are paid between S$50,001 to S$100,000
Kuan Cheng Tuck | 100 | - | - | - | 100
Directors who are paid between S$0 to $$50,000
Zhao Lizhi - - - - -
Dong Congwen® 100 - - - 100
Gallen Tay Wi Keng® 100 - - - 100
Lu King Seng®¥ 100 - - - 100
Yao Fengge® - - - - -
Key Executives who are paid between S$100,001 to S$150,000
Li Zhao Kun® | - | 832 6.0 10.8 100
Key Executives who are paid between S$0 to S$100,000
Jiang Xikun® - 100 - - 100
Sun Honglei® - 77.7 - 22.3 100
Wang Hong® - 81.3 - 18.7 100
Yang Xiaoyu® - 100 - - 100
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Notes:

™ Mr Li Mingyang was appointed as a Director of the Company with effect from 1 March 2016, and his total remuneration for
FY2016 in the form of a salary amounted to $S$180,000.

@ Mr Dong Congwen was appointed as a Director of the Company with effect from 1 July 2016, and his total remuneration for
FY2016 in the form of a fee amounted to S$17,500.

® Mr Gallen Tay Wi Keng was appointed as a Director of the Company with effect from 1 July 2016, and his total remuneration
for FY2016 in the form of a fee amounted to S$15,000.

@ Mr Lu King Seng had resigned as an Independent Director of the Company with effect from 1 April 2016, and his total
remuneration for FY2016 in the form of a fee amounted to S$10,000.

© Dr Yao Fengge had resigned as an Independent Director of the Company with effect from 1 July 2016, and has agreed not to
receive any Directors’ fees for FY2016.

© The total remuneration paid to the top five Key Executives of the Group (who are not directors or the CEO) for FY2016 is

approximately $S$270,000.00.
ACCOUNTABILITY, AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT
Accountability

Principle 10: The Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the company’s performance,
position and prospects.

Our Company announces its financial results on a half-yearly basis and other information via SGXNET in accordance
with the requirement of the SGX-ST. The Company aims to provide the shareholders with a detailed analysis,
explanation and assessment of the Group’s financial position and prospects.

Management provides all members of the Board with management accounts and such explanation and information on a
half-yearly basis and as the Board may require from time to time to enable the Board to make a balanced and informed
assessment of the Group’s performance, position and prospects.

Risk Management and Internal Control

Principle 11: The Board is responsible for the governance of risk. The Board should ensure that Management
maintains a sound system of risk management and internal controls to safeguard shareholders’ interests
and the company’s assets, and should determine the nature and extent of the significant risks which the
Board is willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives.

The Board determines the Group’s levels of risk tolerance and risk policies, and oversees the management in the
design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the overall internal control framework, but recognises that no cost
effective internal control system will preclude all errors and irregularities, as a system is designed to manage and
mitigate rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can provide only reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss, where due to errors or frauds.

The Board and the AC reviews regularly the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems, including financial, operational, compliance, and information technology controls to ensure that that
such systems are sound and adequate to provide reasonable assurance of the adequacy and effectiveness of the
internal controls, addressing financial, operational and compliance risks. Based on the internal controls established
and maintained by the Group, work performed by the external auditors as well as the internal auditors and reviews
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performed by Management, the Board, with the concurrence of the AC, is of the opinion that the internal controls,
including financial, operational, compliance, and information technology controls, and risk management systems put in
place by the Management are reasonably adequate and effective as at 31 December 2016.

The Board has also received the following assurance from the Group’s Chief Executive Officer and Financial Controller
that:

(a) the financial records have been properly maintained and the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
Group’s operations and finances; and

(b) the Group’s risk management and internal controls system are effective.

No risk committee has been established as the Board has assumed the responsibility of the risk management function
and oversees the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management systems and procedures.

Management regularly reviews the Group’s business and operational activities to identify areas of significant business
risks, as well as appropriate measures to control and mitigate these risks. Management reviews all the significant
control policies and procedures and highlight all significant findings to the Directors and the AC.

Audit Committee

Principle 12: The Board should establish an Audit Committee with written terms of reference which clearly set out its
authority and duties.

At the beginning of FY2016, the AC comprised three (3) Independent Directors, Mr Kuan Cheng Tuck as the Chairman,
and Mr Lu King Seng and Dr Yao Fengge as members. Following the resignations of Mr Lu King Seng on 1 April 2016
and Dr Yao Fengge on 1 July 2016 as Directors of the Company, and the appointments of Mr Gallen Tay Wi Keng
and Mr Dong Congwen as Directors of the Company on 1 July 2016, the AC was re-constituted to comprise Mr Kuan
Cheng Tuck, Mr Gallen Tay Wi Keng and Mr Dong Congwen, with Mr Kuan Cheng Tuck appointed as the Chairman
of the AC. Mr Kuan Cheng Tuck and Mr Gallen Tay Wi Keng have financial management experience and relevant
accounting expertise and experience. Accordingly, the AC is appropriately qualified to discharge its responsibilities. The
AC assists the Board in discharging their responsibility to safeguard the assets, maintain adequate accounting records,
and develop and maintain effective systems of internal control, with the overall objective of ensuring that Management
creates and maintains an effective control environment in the Group. The AC provides a channel of communication
between the Board, Management and the external auditors of the Group on matters relating to audit.

The Board has approved the written terms of reference of the AC. Specifically, the AC’s duties include the following:
(a) review the Group’s financial and results of operations and accounting policies;

(b) review the Group’s audit plans of the external auditors and the internal auditors, their scope of work and
the results of the external auditors’ examination and the internal auditors’ evaluation of the Group’s internal
accounting control systems;

(c) review the Group’s annual consolidated financial statements and the external auditors’ report on those
financial statements, and discuss any significant adjustments, major risk areas, changes in accounting policies,
compliance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards, concerns and issues arising from their audits
including any matters which the auditors may wish to discuss in the absence of Management, where necessary,
before submission to the Board for approval;

(d) review the financial statements of the Company and the Group before the submission to the Board for approval
and prior to the Group’s announcement of the results at the end of each reporting period;

(e) review and discuss with external and internal auditors, any suspected fraud, irregularity or infringement of any

relevant laws, rules or regulations, which has or is likely to have a material impact on the Group’s operating
results or financial position and Management’s response;
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review the co-operation given by the Group’s management and officers to the external auditors;

undertake such other reviews and projects as may be requested by the Board, and report to the Board its
findings from time to time on matters arising and requiring the attention of the AC;

review and evaluate the Group’s administrative, operating and internal accounting controls and procedures;

review the Group’s procedures by which employees of the Group may, in confidence, report to the Chairman
of the AC, possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters and ensure that there are
arrangements in place for independent investigation and follow-up actions in relation thereto;

review and establish procedures for receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Group
regarding, inter alia, criminal offences involving the Group or its employees, questionable accounting, auditing,
business, safety, or other matters that may impact negatively on the Group;

review and ratify any interested person transactions falling within the scope of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of
the SGX-ST;

review any potential conflicts of interests;

consider and recommend to the Board on proposals to the shareholders on the appointment and re-appointment
of the external auditors and matters relating to the resignation or dismissal of the external auditors and approving
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors;

review the appointments of and (on an annual basis) review the remuneration of persons occupying managerial
positions who are related to a Director, Chief Executive Officer, or a substantial shareholder of the Company;

generally undertake such other functions and duties which may be required by statute or the rules of the Listing
Manual of the SGX-ST, and by such amendments made thereto from time to time;

ensure that all internal control weaknesses are satisfactorily and properly rectified,;
evaluate the independence of the external auditors;

review the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal audit function and ensuring that a clear reporting structure
is in place between the AC and the internal auditors;

review the Group’s key financial risk areas; the outcome of the aforesaid reviews shall be disclosed in the
Company’s annual report (or in instances where the findings are material, make appropriate disclosures via
SGXNET immediately);

commission and review the findings of internal investigations into matters where there is any suspected fraud or
irregularity, or failure of internal controls or infringement of any Singapore law, rule or regulation which has or is
likely to have a material impact on the Group’s results of operations and/or financial position;

commission and review the annual internal controls audit until such time the AC is satisfied that the Group’s
internal controls are robust and effective enough to mitigate the Group’s internal control weaknesses; and

review and report to the Board on the Group’s system of internal controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls, and risk management policies and systems established by Management. This ensures that
such a system is sound and adequate to provide reasonable assurance of the adequacy and effectiveness of
the internal controls, addressing financial, operational and compliance risks.

The AC is authorised to investigate any matter within its terms of reference, and has full access to Management and
resources which are necessary to enable it to discharge its functions properly. It also has full discretion to invite any
Executive Director or executive management to attend its meetings.
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The AC has reviewed the Group’s financial reporting function, internal controls and processes and is satisfied with
the adequacy and quality of the same. The AC is satisfied with the adequacy of the Group’s accounts and financial
reporting resources and the performance of the Group’s Finance Department.

The AC has also reviewed the policy and arrangements by which the employees of the Group and any other persons
may, in confidence, raise concerns about the possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters
within the Group, with the objectives of ensuring that arrangements are put in place for such concerns to be raised and
independently investigated and for appropriate follow-up action to be taken as and when the need arises. As at the date
of this Annual Report, the Group has put in place the Whistle-blowing Policy for this purpose. Copies of the “whistle-
blowing” policy have been circulated to the employees and are also available at the Company’s registered office.

The Group’s existing auditors, KPMG LLP, have been the external auditors of the Group since 2016 and Mr Lim Pang
Yew, Victor is the current audit partner in charge. For FY2016, the aggregate amount of fees payable to the external
auditors is $$254,300 (exclusive of Goods and Services Tax (“GST”)) with audit related work carried out by the external
auditors amounting to fees of $S$250,000 and non-audit related work carried out by the external auditors amounting to
fees of S$4,300 (exclusive of GST). The AC is satisfied that the external auditors’ independence has not been impaired.

The AC also has full access to the external auditors without the presence of Management and is authorised to have
full and unrestricted access to Management and all personnel, records, operations, properties and other informational
sources of the Group as required or desirable to properly discharge its responsibilities. The AC has full discretion to
invite any Director or executive officer to its meetings and has the authority to conduct or authorise investigations into
any matters within its scope of responsibilities.

Having regard to the adequacy of the resources and experience of the auditing firm and the audit engagement partner
assigned to the audit, the firm’s other audit engagements, the size and complexity of the Group being audited, and the
number and experience of supervisory and professional staff assigned to the particular audit, the Board and the AC are
of the opinion that a suitable auditing firm has been appointed to meet the Group’s auditing obligations. The Company
complies with Rules 712 and 715 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.

The AC recommends to the Board the nomination of KPMG LLP for re-appointment as external auditor at the
forthcoming AGM of the Company.

Internal Audit

Principle 13: The Company should establish an effective internal audit function that is adequately resourced and
independent of the activities it audits.

The internal auditor’s primary line of reporting is to the AC Chairman although the internal auditor would also report
administratively to the Executive Chairman. The AC approves the hiring, removal, evaluation and compensation of the
head of the internal audit function, or the accounting/auditing firm or corporation to which the internal audit function is
outsourced. The internal auditor has unfettered access to all the Group’s documents, records, properties and personnel,
including access to the AC.

The AC also ensures that the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the
Group.

The internal audit function is staffed with persons with the relevant qualifications and experience and carries out its
function according to the standards set by nationally or internationally recognised professional bodies including the
Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing set by the Institute of Internal Auditors.

The Company has outsourced its internal audit function to independent risk advisory and consulting firm, Crowe
Horwath First Trust Risk Advisory Pte. Ltd. (“CHFTRA”). CHFTRA has conducted its internal audit for the Group in
FY2016 and reported directly to the AC on its findings. There were no major internal control weaknesses highlighted by
them for the attention of the AC for FY2016. The AC has reviewed CHFTRA’s report on internal controls and processes
and is satisfied with the adequacy of the same. The AC will annually assess and ensure the adequacy of the internal
audit function.

35



GREEN BUILD TECHNOLOGY LIMITED  Annual Report 2016

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

(D)

36

SHAREHOLDERS
Shareholder Rights

Principle 14: Companies should treat all shareholders fairly and equitably, and should recognise, protect and facilitate
the exercise of shareholders’ rights, and continually review and update such governance arrangements.

The Company facilitates the exercise of ownership rights by all shareholders. In particular, shareholders have the right
to be sufficiently informed of changes in the Company or its business which would be likely to materially affect the price
or value of the Company’s shares.

The Company ensures that shareholders have the opportunity to participate effectively in and vote at general meetings
of shareholders. Shareholders are informed of the rules, including voting procedures, that govern general meetings of
shareholders.

Whilst the Company currently does not allow corporations which provide nominee or custodial services to appoint more
than two (2) proxies so that shareholders who hold shares through such corporations can attend and participate in
general meetings as proxies, the Company has allowed such shareholder(s) who hold shares through such corporation
to attend its general meetings as observer(s).

Communication with Shareholders

Principle 15: Companies should actively engage their shareholders and put in place an investor relations policy to
promote regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders.

In line with continuous disclosure obligations of the Company, pursuant to the SGX-ST’s Listing Rules and the
Companies Act, the Board’s policy is that shareholders are informed of all major developments that impact the Group.
The Company has an effective investor relations policy to regularly convey pertinent information to shareholders. In
disclosing information, the Company will be as descriptive, detailed and forthcoming as possible and avoid boilerplate
disclosures.

Information is communicated to shareholders on a timely basis through SGXNET and other information channels,
including a well-maintained and updated corporate website. Where there is inadvertent disclosure made to a selected
group, the Company will make the same disclosure publicly as promptly as possible. The Board has established regular
dialogue with shareholders, to gather views or inputs, and address shareholders’ concerns. Communication is made
through:

(a) annual reports that are prepared and issued to all shareholders. The Board makes every effort to ensure that
the annual report includes all relevant information about the Group, including future developments and other

disclosures required by the Companies Act and the relevant accounting standards;

(b) half-yearly financial statements containing a summary of the financial information and affairs of the Group for the
period;

(c) notices of and explanatory memoranda for AGMs and extraordinary general meetings;

(d) press and analyst briefings for the Group’s half-yearly and annual results as well as other briefings, as
appropriate;

(e) press releases on major developments of the Group;
(f) disclosures to the SGX-ST; and

(9) the Group’s website at www.webgbt.com at which shareholders can access information on the Group. The
website provides, inter alia, products information and profile of the Group.
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The Company does not have a fixed dividend policy. The form, frequency and amount of dividends will depend on the
Company’s earnings, general financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, cash flow, general business
condition, development plans and other factors as the Directors may deem appropriate.

Conduct of Shareholder Meetings

Principle 16: Companies should encourage greater shareholder participation at general meetings of the shareholders,
and allow shareholders the opportunity to communicate their views on various matters affecting the
company.

Shareholders have the opportunity to participate effectively in and to vote at general meetings of shareholders to ensure
a high level of accountability and to stay informed of the Group’s strategy and goals. The Directors regard general
meeting of the shareholders as an opportunity to communicated directly with shareholders and encourage greater
shareholder participation.

The notice of general meetings of shareholders is despatched to shareholders, together with explanatory notes or a
circular on items of special business, at least fourteen (14) days before the meeting. The Board welcomes questions
from shareholders who have an opportunity to raise issues either informally or formally before or at the general
meetings of shareholders. All Directors normally attend general meetings of shareholders. The Chairmen of the AC,
RC, and NC are normally available at the meeting to answer those questions relating to the work of these Board
Committees. The Company’s external auditors will also be present to assist the Directors in addressing queries by
shareholders.

The Company prepares minutes of general meetings that include substantial and relevant comments or queries from
shareholders relating to the agenda of the meeting, and responses from the Board and Management, and makes these

minutes available to shareholders upon their request.

The Company puts all resolutions to vote by poll and make an announcement of the detailed results showing the
number of votes cast for and against each resolution and the respective percentages.

Each item of special business included in the notice of the meeting is accompanied, where appropriate, by an

explanation for the proposed resolution. Separate resolutions are proposed for substantially separate issues at

the meeting to avoid “bundling” resolutions unless the resolutions are interdependent and linked so as to form one

significant proposal.

DEALING IN SECURITIES

The Company adopts the following policies in relation to dealings in its securities:

(a) officers are not to deal in its securities during the period commencing one (1) month before the announcement
of the Group’s half yearly financial statements and one (1) month before the announcement of the Group’s

financial statements for the full year, and ending on the date of the announcement of the relevant results;

(b) in addition, the Company reminds its officers to observe the laws on insider trading at all times, even when
dealing in its securities within the permitted trading period; and

(c) the Company’s internal compliance code requires that its officers should not deal in the Company’s securities on
short term considerations.

The Board confirms that the Company has complied with Rule 1207(19) of the Listing Rules of the SGX-ST.
MATERIAL CONTRACTS

There were no material contracts of the Company or its subsidiaries involving the interest of any Director or controlling
shareholders subsisting at the end of the reporting year ended 31 December 2016.
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INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted an internal policy in respect of any transactions with interested persons within the definition
of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST and has established procedures to ensure that all transactions with
interested persons are reported in a timely manner to the AC and that the transactions are carried out on normal
commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its shareholders.

The Company has obtained a general mandate pursuant to Rule 920 of the Listing Manual in relation to interested
persons transactions during its AGM held on 29 April 2016.

There were no interested person transactions with a value of S$100,000 or more during FY2016.
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We are pleased to submit this annual report to the members of the Company together with the audited consolidated financial
statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2016.

In our opinion:

(a) the consolidated financial statements set out on pages 45 to 88 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2016 and the financial performance, changes in
equity and cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore

Companies Act, Chapter 50 and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards; and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as
and when they fall due.

The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial statements for issue.

Directors

The directors in office at the date of this statement are as follows:

Zhao Lizhi Executive Chairman

Wu Xueying Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Li Mingyang Chief Business Development Officer and Executive Director
(Appointed on 1 March 2016)

Kuan Cheng Tuck Non-Executive and Independent Director

Gallen Tay Wi Keng Non-Executive and Independent Director (Appointed on 1 July 2016)

Dong Congwen Non-Executive and Independent Director (Appointed on 1 July 2016)

Directors’ interests

According to the register kept by the Company for the purposes of Section 164 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the Act),
particulars of interests of directors who held office at the end of the financial year (including those held by their spouses and
infant children) in shares, debentures, warrants and share options in the Company and in related corporations (other than
wholly owned subsidiaries) are as follows:

Director interest Deemed interest
At beginning At beginning
of the year/date At end of the year/date At end

Name of director of appointment of the year of appointment of the year
The Company

Ordinary shares

Zhao Lizhi 67,518,111 67,518,111 30,000,000 30,000,000
Wu Xueying - - 8,360,000 8,360,000
Li Mingyang - - 45,000,000 45,000,000
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Except as disclosed in this statement, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests in shares,
debentures, warrants or share options of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the beginning of the financial year,
or date of appointment if later, or at the end of the financial year.

There were no changes in the above-mentioned interests in the Company between the end of the financial year and 21
January 2017.

Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee during the year and at the date of this statement are:

° Kuan Cheng Tuck (Chairman), non-executive director
° Gallen Tay Wi Keng, non-executive director
o Dong Congwen, non-executive director

The Audit Committee performs the functions specified in Section 201B of the Act, the SGX Listing Manual and the Code of
Corporate Governance.

The Audit Committee has held three meetings since the last directors’ statement. In performing its functions, the Audit
Committee met with the Company’s external and internal auditors to discuss the scope of their work, the results of their
examination and evaluation of the Company’s internal accounting control system.

The Audit Committee also reviewed the following:

° assistance provided by the Company’s officers to the internal and external auditors;

o half-yearly financial information and annual financial statements of the Group and the Company prior to their submission
to the directors of the Company for adoption; and

o interested person transactions (as defined in Chapter 9 of the SGX Listing Manual).

The Audit Committee has full access to management and is given the resources required for it to discharge its functions. It
has full authority and the discretion to invite any director or executive officer to attend its meetings. The Audit Committee also
recommends the appointment of the external auditors and reviews the level of audit and non-audit fees.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and has recommended to
the Board of Directors that the auditors, KPMG LLP, be nominated for re-appointment as auditors at the forthcoming Annual

General Meeting of the Company.

In appointing our auditors for the Company, subsidiaries and significant associated companies, we have complied with Rules
712 and 715 of the SGX Listing Manual.
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT

Auditors

At the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 10 October 2016, KPMG LLP were appointed as auditors of the Company. The
auditors, KPMG LLP, have indicated their willingness to accept the appointment.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Zhao Lizhi
Director

Wu Xueying
Director

31 March 2017
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

MEMBERS OF THE COMPANY
GREEN BUILD TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Green Build Technology Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group),
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group and the statement of financial position of the
Company as at 31 December 2016, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the year then
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies as set out on pages 45 to
88.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position
of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the Act) and
Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (FRSs) so as to give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group and the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2016 and of the consolidated financial performance,
consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority Code of Professional
Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities ((ACRA’ Code) together with the ethical requirements that
are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial

statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

The measurement of revenue from construction contracts

(Refer to Note 16 to the financial statements)

The key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group has two service concession arrangements with
the Government of Harbin — an underground utilities tunnel
project and a public housing insulation project which contribute
to 99% of total Group’s revenue.

The public housing insulation project was completed during
the year while the underground utilities tunnel project was in
progress reaching 68% of completion by 31 December 2016.

The projects’ stage of completion is estimated using the
cost-to-cost method. Significant estimates and judgement in
determining the budgeted costs and re-forecasting of costs to
complete are required.

We assessed the management’s budget by verifying the
budgeted costs to the executed contracts and variation
orders with sub-contractors and challenged management for
any significant variation. In addition, we reviewed the actual
costs incurred to-date for both projects; and assessed the
reasonableness of the total estimated costs to complete the
underground utilities tunnel project.

Our findings
We found management’s determination of the projects’ stage

of completion to be reasonable, taking into account of the
project status and contract performance to-date.
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Other matter

The financial statements of the Group and the Company for the year ended 31 December 2015 were audited by another
auditor, who expressed an unmodified opinion on those financial statements with an emphasis of matter on 1 April 2016.
The emphasis of matter related to the existence of a material uncertainty which might cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. The going concern assumption was dependent on continuing support from the Group’s
bankers, ability to secure cash receipts from ongoing projects and undertakings from related parties not to recall the amounts
due to them.

Other information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Responsibilities of management and directors for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the
provisions of the Act and FRSs, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide
a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are
properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and
to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal controls.
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° Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal controls.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going

concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities

within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal controls that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditors’ report unless the law or regulations preclude public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiary
corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions

of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Lim Pang Yew, Victor.

KPMG LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants

Singapore
31 March 2017
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Note

Assets
Property, plant and equipment 4
Intangible assets 5
Subsidiaries 6
Deferred expenditure
Trade receivables 9
Prepayments 10
Non-current assets
Inventories 7
Contract work-in-progress 8
Trade and other receivables 9
Prepayments 10
Cash and cash equivalents 11
Current assets
Total assets
Equity
Share capital 12
Foreign currency translation reserve 13
Accumulated losses
Equity attributable to equity

holders of the Company
Non-controlling interests
Total Equity
Liabilities
Loans and borrowings 15
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 14
Loans and borrowings 15

Current tax liabilities
Current liabilities
Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

* Amount less than RMB1,000

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2016

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
1,087 1,152 6 7
1,096 1,075 - -

- 396 - -
240,871 - - _
11,880 - - -
254,934 2,623 6 7
94 779 - -

- 32,355 - -
341,641 126,483 22,467 25,219

5,229 49,473 8 11
211,659 609 164 197
558,623 209,699 22,639 25,427
813,557 212,322 22,645 25,434
124,909 113,179 124,909 113,179
1,074 966 1,060 920
(61,206) (73,240) (114,391) (107,333)
64,777 40,905 11,578 6,766
1,919 - - -
66,696 40,905 11,578 6,766
274,274 - - -
274,274 - - -
297,059 57,137 6,035 2,296
159,091 103,316 5,032 16,372
16,437 10,964 - -
472,587 171,417 11,067 18,668
746,861 171,417 11,067 18,668
813,557 212,322 22,645 25,434

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

Continuing operation
Revenue

Cost of sales
Gross profit

Other income

Administrative expenses

Other expenses

Results from operating activities

Finance income
Finance costs
Net finance costs

Profit before tax
Tax expense

Profit from continuing operation

Discontinued operation

Profit from discontinued operation, net of tax

Profit for the year

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests
Profit for the year

Earnings per share
Basic and diluted (cents)

Earnings per share — Continuing operation

Basic and diluted (cents)

Note 2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
16 837,640 90,828
(799,383) (69,660)
38,257 21,168
12 19
(14,101) (10,530)
(829) -
23,339 10,657
17 5,898 743
(11,717) (5,740)
(5,819) (4,997)
17,520 5,660
18 (5,489) (3,544)
12,031 2,116
19 - 2,403
20 12,031 4,519
12,034 (2,399)
(3) 6,918
12,031 4,519
21 4.91 (1.00)
21 4.91 0.89

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
Profit for the year 12,031 4,519
Other comprehensive income
Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Foreign currency translation differences — foreign operations 108 26
Realisation of foreign currency translation reserve upon disposal of subsidiaries - (1,171)
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 108 (1,145)
Total comprehensive income for the year 12,139 3,374
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company 12,142 (3,544)
Non-controlling interests (3) 6,918
Total comprehensive income for the year 12,139 3,374

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets

Amortisation of land use rights

Amortisation of deferred expenditure

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Loss on sale of discontinued operation, net of tax
Allowance for impairment for contract work-in-progress
Write-off of deferred expenditure

Interest expense

Interest income

Exchange differences

Operating profit before changes in working capital

Changes in:
Contract work-in-progress
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Prepayments
Trade and other payables

Interest paid

Interest income received

Tax paid

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition of software

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries, net
Acquisition of available-for-sale investment

Disposal of discontinued operation, net of cash disposed of

Net cash from/(used in) investing activities

Note 2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
17,520 10,638
433 9,862
2 14
- 270
59 33
- (53)
- 10,944
32,355 -
337 -
11,717 8,950
(5,898) (1,166)
108 (1,146)
56,633 38,346
- (414)
685 (3,811)
(462,027) (38,389)
32,364 (46,152)
241,417 42,538
(130,928) (7,882)
(11,717) (8,950)
257 1,166
(16) (2,928)
(142,404) (18,594)
(368) (2,340)
(23) -
- 149
13,561 -
- (18,450)
19 - (13,810)
13,170 (34,451)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

50



GREEN BUILD TECHNOLOGY LIMITED  Annual Report 2016

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

Note 2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares, net 11,730 -
Proceeds from borrowings 428,000 149,000
Repayment of borrowings - (175,500)
Repayment of loan from a corporate shareholder - (5,165)
Repayment of loan from former holding company - (2,113)
(Repayment of)/Proceeds from loans from related parties (60,416) 61,293
(Repayment of)/Proceeds from loan from a shareholder (940) 940
(Repayment of)/Proceeds from loans from external parties (36,595) 36,595
(Increase)/Decrease in deposits pledged for bills payables (50,700) 9,646
Increase in deposits pledged for banker guarantees (95,482) -
Decrease in non-trade amount due to former holding company - (452)
Decrease in non-trade amount due to a corporate shareholder - (25,491)
Decrease in non-trade amount due to a director (1,495) (787)
Decrease in non-trade amount due to related parties - (300)
Net cash generated from financing activities 194,102 47,666
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 64,868 (5,379)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 609 5,988
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 11 65,477 609

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2017.

1 Corporate information

Green Build Technology Limited (the “Company”) is a company incorporated in Singapore. The address of the
Company’s registered office is 9 Temasek Boulevard, #09-01, Suntec Tower Two, Singapore 038989.

The financial statements of the Group as at and for the year ended 31 December 2016 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as the ‘Group’ and individually as ‘Group entities’).

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are disclosed in
Note 6 to the financial statements.
2 Basis of preparation
2.1 Statement of compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).
2.2  Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as otherwise described in accounting
policies below.

2.3 Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Chinese Renminbi (“RMB”). The Company’s functional currency is
Singapore dollars (“SGD”). All financial information presented in RMB have been rounded to the nearest thousand,
unless otherwise stated.

2.4  Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income

and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material
adjustment within the next financial year are included in the following notes:

° Note 16 - revenue and profit recognition from construction contracts
Information about other judgements made and estimates applied are included in the following note:

° Note 9 - valuation of service concession receivables
° Note 18 - recognition and measurement of current tax payable
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Basis of preparation (cont’d)
Measurement of fair value

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both financial
and non-financial assets and liabilities.

Management regularly reviews significant unobservable inputs and valuation adjustments. |If third party information,
such as broker quotes or pricing services, is used to measure fair values, then management assesses and documents
the evidence obtained from the third parties to support the conclusion that such valuations meet the requirements of
FRS, including the level in the fair value hierarchy in which such valuations should be classified.

Significant valuation issues are reported to the Audit Committee. When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group uses observable market data as far as possible. Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair
value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:

. Level 1 : quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

° Level 2 : inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

. Level 3 : inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy,
then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest
level input that is significant to the entire measurement (with Level 3 being the lowest).

The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the reporting period during
which the change has occurred.

Changes in accounting policies
In the current financial year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised FRSs and Interpretations of IRS (“INT
FRSs”) that are related to its operations and effective for annual periods beginning on 1 January 2016. The adoption of

the new and revised FRSs and INT FRSs does not result in substantial changes to the Group’s accounting policies and
has no material effect on the amounts reported for the current and prior periods.
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3.1
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Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial
statements, and have been applied consistently by Group entities.

Basis of consolidation

()

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method in accordance with FRS 103 Business
Combinations as at the date of acquisition, which is the date on which control is transferred to the Group.

The Group measures goodwill at the date of acquisition as:

o the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus

o the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests (“NCI”) in the acquiree; plus

o if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-existing equity interest in the
acquire,

over the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment.

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships.
Such amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value at the date of acquisition and included in the
consideration transferred. If the contingent consideration that meets the definition of a financial instrument
is classified as equity, it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, other
contingent consideration is remeasured at fair value at each reporting date and subsequent changes to the fair
value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.

When share-based payment awards (replacement awards) are exchanged for awards held by the acquiree’s
employees (acquiree’s awards) and relate to past services, then all or a portion of the amount of the acquirer’s
replacement awards is included in measuring the consideration transferred in the business combination. This
determination is based on the market-based value of the replacement awards compared with the market-based
value of the acquiree’s awards and the extent to which the replacement awards relate to past and/or future
service.

NCI that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the acquiree’s net
assets in the event of liquidation are measured either at fair value or at the NCI's proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets, at the date of acquisition. The measurement basis
taken is elected on a transaction-by-transaction basis. All other NCI are measured at acquisition-date fair value,
unless another measurement basis is required by FRSs.

Costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the
Group incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
transactions with owners in their capacity as owners and therefore no adjustments are made to goodwill and no
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Adjustments to NCI arising from transactions that do not involve the
loss of control are based on a proportionate amount of the net assets of the subsidiary.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Basis of consolidation (cont'd)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align them with the policies
adopted by the Group. Losses applicable to the NCI in a subsidiary are allocated to the NCI even if doing so
causes the NCI to have a deficit balance.

Loss of control

Upon the loss of control, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any NCI and the
other components of equity related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is
recognised in profit or loss. If the Group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then such interest is
measured at fair value at the date that control is lost. Subsequently, it is accounted for as an equity-accounted
investee or as an available-for-sale financial asset depending on the level of influence retained.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised gains arising from
transactions with equity-accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Accounting for subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated in the Company’s statement of financial position at cost less accumulated
impairment losses.

Foreign currency

(i)

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at the reporting date are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date.
The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional
currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the year, and the
amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the year.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are
translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items in a foreign currency that are measured in terms of historical cost are translated using the
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences arising on translation are recognised
in profit or loss.
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3 Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

3.2  Foreign currency (contd)

(ii)

Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, excluding goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
acquisition, are translated to RMB at exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign
operations are translated to RMB at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Goodwill and fair value
adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign operations are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
operation and are translated at the exchange rates at the reporting date.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other comprehensive income (“OCI”), and presented in the
foreign currency translation reserve (translation reserve) in equity. However, if the foreign operation is a non-
wholly-owned subsidiary, then the relevant proportionate share of the translation difference is allocated to the
NCI. When a foreign operation is disposed of such that control, significant influence or joint control is lost, the
cumulative amount in the translation reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss
as part of the gain or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of only part of its interest in a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation while retaining control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is
reattributed to NCI.

When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned
nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising from such a monetary
item that are considered to form part of a net investment in a foreign operation are recognised in OCI, and are
presented in the translation reserve in equity.

3.3 Financial instruments

(i)

56

Non-derivative financial assets

The Group initially recognises loans and receivables on the date that they are originated. All other financial
assets (including assets designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially on the trade date,
which is the date that the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred, or it neither transfers
nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain control over the transferred
asset. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a
separate asset or liability.

The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets into loans and receivables.
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Such assets are initially measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any impairment losses.

Loans and receivables comprise cash and cash equivalents, and trade and other receivables, including service
concession receivables.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and short-term deposits with maturities of three months or
less from the date of acquisition that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are
used by the Group in the management of its short-term commitments. For the purpose of the statement of cash
flows, pledged deposits are excluded whilst bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are included in cash and cash equivalents.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Financial instruments (cont'd)

()

(ii)

Non-derivative financial assets (cont’d)

Service concession receivables

The Group recognises a financial asset arising from the service concession arrangements when it has an
unconditional contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset from or at the direction of the grantor
for the construction or upgrade services provided. Such financial assets are measured at fair value upon initial
recognition. Subsequent to initial recognition, the financial assets are measured at amortised cost.

Non-derivative financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are recognised initially on the trade date, which is the date that the Group becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.
The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the other financial liabilities category.

Such financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

These financial liabilities comprise trade and other payables, and loans and borrowings.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position

when, and only when, the Group currently has a legal enforceable right to offset the amounts and intends either
to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

Property, plant and equipment

(i)

Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed
assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets
to a working condition for their intended use, when the Group has an obligation to remove the asset or restore
the site, an estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are
located, and capitalised borrowing costs.

Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that
equipment.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment (calculated as the difference between
the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in profit or loss.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Property, plant and equipment (cont'd)

(ii)

(iii)

Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying
amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the component will
flow to the Group, and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced component is
derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.

Depreciation

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant components of individual
assets are assessed and if a component has a useful life that is different from the remainder of that asset, that
component is depreciated separately.

Depreciation is recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives
of each component of an item of property, plant and equipment, unless it is included in the carrying amount of
another asset. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it
is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.

Depreciation is recognised from the date that the property, plant and equipment are installed and are ready for
use, or in respect of internally constructed assets, from the date that the asset is completed and ready for use.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years are as follows:

Building - 20 years

Plant and machinery - 10 years

Motor vehicles - 5 years

Office equipment - 3to 5 years

Office renovation - over the lease term

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
adjusted if appropriate.

Intangible assets and goodwill

(i)

Goodwill

Goodwill that arises upon the acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. For the measurement of
goodwill at initial recognition, see note 3.1(i).

Goodwill is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.



3

3.6

3.7

3.8

GREEN BUILD TECHNOLOGY LIMITED  Annual Report 2016

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
Intangible assets and goodwill (cont'd)
(i) Computer software

Computer software licenses are initially recognised at cost which includes the purchase price (net of any
discounts and rebates) and other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their
intended use. Direct expenditure, which enhances or extends the performance of computer software beyond its
specifications and which can be reliably measured, is recognised as a capital improvement and added to the
original cost of the software. Costs associated with maintaining the computer software are recognised as an
expense as incurred.

Computer software licenses are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses.

Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 3 to 5 years
from the date that they are available for use, since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption
of the future economic benefits embodied in the assets.

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting period and adjusted if
appropriate.

Leased assets

Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as
finance leases. Upon initial recognition, the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value
and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in
accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.

Other leases are operating leases and are not recognised in the Group’s statement of financial position.
Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is based on the first-in
first-out principle, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs and
other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Contract work-in-progress

Contract work-in-progress represent the gross unbilled amount expected to be collected from customers for contract
work performed to date. It is measured at cost plus profit recognised to date (see Note 3.12) less progress billings
and recognised losses. Cost includes all expenditure related directly to specific projects and an allocation of fixed and
variable overheads incurred in the Group’s contract activities based on normal operating capacity.

Contract work-in-progress is presented in the statement of financial position for all contracts in which costs incurred
plus recognised profits exceed progress billings. If progress billings exceed the costs incurred plus recognised profits,
then the difference is presented as excess of progress billings over construction contracts-in-progress as part of trade
and other payables in the statement of financial position.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Impairment

(i)

(i)

Non-derivative financial assets

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at the end of each reporting period
to determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective
evidence indicates that a loss event(s) has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss
event(s) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency by a debtor,
restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise, indications
that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers, and economic
conditions that correlate with defaults.

Loans and receivables

The Group considers evidence of impairment for loans and receivables at both a specific asset and collective
level. All individually significant loans and receivables are assessed for specific impairment. All individually
significant loans and receivables found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any
impairment that has been incurred but not yet identified. Loans and receivables that are not individually
significant are collectively assessed for impairment by grouping together loans and receivables with similar risk
characteristics.

In assessing collective impairment, the Group uses historical trends of the probability of default, the timing
of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management’s judgement as to whether current
economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested by
historical trends.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference
between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the asset’s
original effective interest rate. Losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account
against loans and receivables. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognised. When the Group
considers that there are no realistic prospects of recovery of the asset, the relevant amounts are written off.
If the amount of impairment loss subsequently decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, then the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss.

Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories, are reviewed at each reporting
date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill, and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives or that are
not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated each year at the same time. An impairment loss is
recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its related cash-generating unit (“CGU”) exceeds its estimated
recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset or CGU. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped
together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGUs. Subject to an operating segment ceiling test, for the
purposes of goodwill impairment testing, CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are aggregated so that
the level at which impairment testing is performed reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for
internal reporting purposes. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to groups of CGUs that
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
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3.9  Impairment (cont'd)

(ii)

Non-financial assets (contd)

The Group’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows and are utilised by more than one CGU.
Corporate assets are allocated to CGUs on a reasonable and consistent basis and tested for impairment as part
of the testing of the CGU to which the corporate asset is allocated.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU (group of CGUs), and then to
reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU (group of CGUs) on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses
recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has
decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

3.10 Employee benefits

()

(i)

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions
into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for
contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as staff costs in profit or loss in the periods
during which related services are rendered by employees.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the
related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash
bonus if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service
provided by the employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

3.11 Revenue

(i)

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods in the course of ordinary activities is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, net of returns, trade discounts and volume rebates. Revenue is recognised
when significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer, recovery of the
consideration is probable, the associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, there is
no continuing management involvement with the goods, and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.
If it is probable that discounts will be granted and the amount can be measured reliably, then the discount is
recognised as a reduction of revenue as the sales are recognised.

The timing of the transfer of risks and rewards varies depending on the individual terms of the sales agreement.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
Revenue (cont'd)
(i) Construction contracts

Contract revenue includes the initial amount agreed in the contract plus any variations in contract work, claims
and incentive payments, to the extent that it is probable that they will result in revenue and can be measured
reliably. When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised
in profit or loss in proportion to the stage of completion of the contract. Contract expenses are recognised as
incurred unless they create an asset related to future contract activity (see note 3.9).

The stage of completion is assessed by reference to the proportion of contract costs incurred for work performed
to date to the estimated total contract costs. When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated
reliably, contract revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to be
recoverable. An expected loss on a contract is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

When contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings,
the surplus representing amounts due from customers is presented as ‘construction contracts-in-progress’. For
contracts where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised
losses, the surplus representing amounts due to customers is presented as ‘progress billings over construction
contracts-in-progress’.

(iiij)  Service concession arrangements

Revenue related to construction or upgrade services under a service concession arrangement is recognised
based on the stage of completion of the work performed, consistent with the Group’s accounting policy on
recognising revenue on construction contracts. Operation or service revenue is recognised in the period in
which the services are provided by the Group. When the Group provides more than one service in a service
concession arrangement, the consideration received is allocated by reference to the relative fair values of the
services delivered when the amounts are separately identifiable.

(iv)  Consultancy income
Consultancy income is recognised in profit or loss when the consultancy is rendered.
Government grants

Government grants are recognised initially as deferred income at fair value when there is reasonable assurance that
they will be received and the Group will comply with the conditions associated with the grant. These grants are then
recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the useful life of the asset. Grants that compensate the Group for
expenses incurred are recognised in profit or loss as ‘other income’ on a systematic basis in the same periods in which
the expenses are recognised.

Lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the
lease.

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction
of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

Contingent lease payments are accounted for by revising the minimum lease payments over the remaining term of the
lease when the lease adjustment is confirmed.
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Lease payments (cont'd)
Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease

At inception of an arrangement, the Group determines whether such an arrangement is or contains a lease. This will
be the case if the following two criteria are met:

o the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets; and
° the arrangement contains a right to use the asset(s).

At inception or upon reassessment of the arrangement, the Group separates payments and other consideration
required by such an arrangement into those for the lease and those for other elements on the basis of their relative
fair values. If the Group concludes for a finance lease that it is impracticable to separate the payments reliably, then
an asset and a liability are recognised at an amount equal to the fair value of the underlying asset. Subsequently,
the liability is reduced as payments are made and an imputed finance charge on the liability is recognised using the
Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

Finance income and costs

Finance income comprises interest income on funds placed with banks and unwinding of discount on service
concession receivables. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method.

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings. Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are recognised in the profit or loss using the effective
interest method.

Tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss except to
the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in OCI.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. The
amount of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that
reflects uncertainty related to income taxes, if any.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for:

o temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business
combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;

° temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable
future; and

° taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
Tax (contd)

The measurement of deferred taxes reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which the Group
expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is
measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and
assets, and they relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities,
but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised
simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit
will be realised.

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Group takes into account the impact of uncertain tax
positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. The Group believes that its accruals for tax liabilities
are adequate for all open tax years based on its assessment of many factors, including interpretations of tax law and
prior experience. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of judgements about
future events. New information may become available that causes the Group to change its judgement regarding the
adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a
determination is made.

Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business, the operations and cash flows of which can be
clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which:

° represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations;

. is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of
operations; or

. is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be classified
as held for sale, if earlier. When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the comparative statement of
profit or loss is re-presented as if the operation had been discontinued from the start of the comparative year.

Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share data for its ordinary shares. Basic earnings per share is
calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, adjusted for own shares held. Diluted earnings per share is
determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for own shares held, for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other
components. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the Group’s CEO (the chief operating
decision maker) to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance, and
for which discrete financial information is available.

Segment results that are reported to the Group’s CEO include items directly attributable to a segment as well as
those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets (primarily the
Company’s headquarters), head office expenses, and tax assets and liabilities.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the year to acquire property, plant and equipment, and
intangible assets other than goodwill.

New standards and interpretations not adopted

A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January
2016 and earlier application is permitted; however, the Group has not early applied the following new or amended
standards in preparing these statements.

For those new standards and amendments to standards that are expected to have an effect on the financial statements
of the Group and the Company in future financial periods, the Group has started to assess the transition options and
the potential impact on its financial statements, and to implement these standards. The Group plans to adopt these
standards when they become effective.

FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

FRS 115 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue is recognised.
It also introduces new cost guidance which requires certain costs of obtaining and fulfilling contracts to be recognised
as separate assets when specified criteria are met.

When effective, FRS 115 replaces existing revenue recognition guidance, including FRS 18 Revenue, FRS 11
Construction Contracts, INT FRS 113 Customer Loyalty Programmes, INT FRS 115 Agreements for the Construction
of Real Estate, INT FRS 118 Transfers of Assets from Customers and INT FRS 31 Revenue — Barter Transactions
Involving Advertising Services. FRS 115 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early
adoption permitted.

FRS 115 offers a range of transition options including full retrospective adoption where an entity can choose to apply
the standard to its historical transactions and retrospectively adjust each comparative period presented in its 2018
financial statements. When applying the full retrospective method, an entity may also elect to use a series of practical
expedients to ease transition.

Based on its initial assessment, the Group does not expect the adoption of the above standard to have a significant
impact on the financial statements.
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Significant accounting policies (cont’d)
New standards and interpretations not adopted (cont'd)

FRS 109 Financial Instruments

FRS 109 replaces most of the existing guidance in FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. It
includes revised guidance on the classification and measurement of financial instruments, a new expected credit loss
model for calculating impairment on financial assets, and new general hedge accounting requirements. It also carries
forward the guidance on recognition and derecognition of financial instruments from FRS 39.

FRS 109 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early adoption permitted.
Retrospective application is generally required, except for hedge accounting. For hedge accounting, the requirements
are generally applied prospectively, with some limited exceptions. Restatement of comparative information is not
mandatory. If comparative information is not restated, the cumulative effect is recorded in opening equity as at 1
January 2018.

Based on its initial assessment, the Group does not expect the adoption of the above standard to have a significant
impact on the financial statements.

Convergence with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

In addition, the Accounting Standards Council (ASC) announced on 29 May 2014 that Singapore-incorporated
companies listed on the Singapore Exchange (SGX) will apply a new financial reporting framework identical to the
International Financial Reporting Standards (referred to as SG-IFRS in these financial statements) for the financial year
ending 31 December 2018 onwards.

The Group has performed a preliminary assessment of the impact of SG-IFRS 1 First-time adoption of International
Financial Reporting Standards for the transition to the new reporting framework. Based on the Group’s preliminary
assessment, the Group expects that the impact on adoption of SG-IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
and SG-IFRS 9 Financial Instruments will be similar to adopting FRS 115 and FRS 109 as described in this Note.

Other than arising from the adoption of new and revised standards, the Group does not expect to change its existing
accounting policies on adoption of the new framework. The Group is currently performing a detailed analysis of the
available policy choices, transitional optional exemptions and transitional mandatory exceptions under SG-IFRS 1 and
the preliminary assessment may be subject to changes arising from the detailed analyses.

Applicable to 2019 financial statements
FRS 116 Leases

FRS 116 eliminates the lessee’s classification of leases as either operating leases or finance leases and introduces a
single lessee accounting model. Applying the new model, a lessee is required to recognise right-of-use (ROU) assets
and lease liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value.

FRS 116 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in FRS 17 Leases. Accordingly, a lessor
continues to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases, and to account for these two types of leases
using the FRS 17 operating lease and finance lease accounting models respectively. However, FRS 116 requires more
extensive disclosures to be provided by a lessor.

When effective, FRS 116 replaces existing lease accounting guidance, including FRS 17, INT FRS 104 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, INT FRS 15 Operating Leases — Incentives, and INT FRS 27 Evaluating
the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.

FRS 116 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with early adoption permitted if FRS 115
is also applied. The Group does not plan to early adopt this standard.

Based on its initial assessment, the Group does not expect the adoption of the above standard to have a significant
impact on the financial statements.
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Property, plant and equipment

Plant and Motor Office Office
Building machinery vehicles equipment renovation Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Group
Cost
At 1 January 2015 49,872 92,574 2,832 4,603 446 150,327
Additions - 1,738 640 556 - 2,934
Disposals - (231) - (586) - (817)
Written off - - - (44) - (44)
Disposals of subsidiaries (49,872) (91,999) (2,474) (8,662) (446) (148,453)
Transferred to contract work-

in-progress - (2,082) - - - (2,082)
At 31 December 2015 - - 998 867 - 1,865
Additions - - 324 44 - 368
At 31 December 2016 - - 1,322 911 - 2,233

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2015 15,283 50,132 1,868 3,533 148 70,964
Depreciation charge for the

year 1,913 7,057 176 658 58 9,862
Disposals - (166) - (511) - (677)
Written off - - - (44) - (44)
Disposals of subsidiaries (17,196) (56,825) (1,726) (3,240) (206) (79,193)
Transferred to construction

contracts-in-progress - (198) - - - (198)
Effect of movements in

exchange rates - - (1) - - (1)
At 31 December 2015 - - 317 396 - 713
Depreciation charge for the

year - - 255 178 - 433
At 31 December 2016 - - 572 574 - 1,146

Carrying amounts

At 1 January 2015 34,589 42,442 964 1,070 298 79,363
At 31 December 2015 - - 681 471 - 1,152
At 31 December 2016 - - 750 337 - 1,087
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Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

Company

Cost

At 1 January 2015

Additions

Written off

At 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2016

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2015

Depreciation charge for the year
Written off

Effect of movements in exchange rates
At 31 December 2015

Depreciation charge for the year

At 31 December 2016

Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2015

At 31 December 2015
At 31 December 2016

Intangible assets

Group

Cost

At 1 January 2015
Disposal of subsidiaries
At 31 December 2015
Additions

At 31 December 2016

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2015
Amortisation for the year
Disposal of subsidiaries

At 31 December 2015
Amortisation for the year

At 31 December 2016

Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2015

At 31 December 2015
At 31 December 2016

Amortisation expense

Office
equipment
RMB’000
46
8
(46)
8
43
3
(44)
(1)
1
1
2
3
7
6
Customer Computer
Goodwill relationship software Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
1,072 2,700 274 4,046
- (2,700) (269) (2,969)
1,072 - 5 1,077
- - 23 23
1,072 - 28 1,100
- 2,700 257 2,957
- - 14 14
- (2,700) (269) (2,969)
- - 2 2
- - 2 2
- - 4 4
1,072 — 17 1,089
1,072 — 3 1,075
1,072 — 24 1,096

The amortisation of computer software is included in “administrative expenses”.



Subsidiaries

Unquoted equity shares, at cost

*

Amounts less than RMB1,000

Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

@)

()

)

)

=

)

o

)

Name of Company

Held by the Company
GBT Investments Pte. Ltd. (“GBTI”)

Held through GBTI

Harbin Superior Construction Materials
Trading Co, Ltd

Harbin Shengming Energy Saving
and Technology Co., Ltd. (“Harbin
Shengming”)

Harbin Utilities Tunnel Construction and
Management Co., Ltd (‘HUTCAM”)

Harbin Prevailing Municipal Engineering
Co., Ltd (“HPME”)

Harbin Vigorous Construction and
Engineering Co., Ltd. (“HVCE”)

Audited by KPMG LLP, Singapore
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Principal activities

Investment holding

Trading of construction materials

Energy conservation services and
installation of green technology and
architecture

Construction, operation and
management of projects

The provision of architectural
design and construction services
for government projects, promotion
of energy conservation and
investment in construction business

Civil engineering and construction,
green landscaping, development of
energy-conservation technology

Audited by KPMG member firms of KPMG Beijing for the purposes of consolidation

Dormant

Company
2016
RMB’000

2015
RMB’000

Country of
incorporation Percentage of
and place of equity held by the
business Group
2016 2015
% %
Singapore 100 100
People’s 100 100
Republic of
China
People’s 100 100
Republic of
China
People’s 100 100
Republic of
China
People’s 100 100
Republic of
China
People’s 51 -
Republic of
China
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7 Inventories
Group
2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
Finished goods 94 779

During the year, the cost of inventories recognised as an expense and included in the cost of sales of the Group
amounted to RMB153,433,000 (2015: RMB174,836,000).

8 Contract work-in-progress
Group

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
Aggregate amount of costs incurred 25,750 25,750
Attributable profits 6,605 6,605
32,355 32,355
Less: Allowance for impairment (32,355) -
— 32,355

The contract work-in-progress relates to a car park development project. Allowance for impairment is made during the
year as the project may not be able to be brought to fruition amid local residents’ concerns about the impact of the
development on the neighbourhood.

9 Trade and other receivables
Group Company
Note 2016 2015 2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current:
Service concession receivables 25 240,871 - - -

Current:

Third parties 54,014 4,131 - -
Service concession receivables 25 283,162 87,733 - -
Non-trade amounts due from subsidiaries - - 22,445 68
Government grant receivables 1,294 8,000 - -
Receivables from the disposal of subsidiaries - 25,040 - 25,040
Other receivables 3,149 757 - 90
Deposits 22 822 22 21
341,641 126,483 22,467 25,219

Non-trade amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. There is no allowance
for doubtful debts arising from the outstanding balances.

Government grant receivables are from the local government for the green technology service projects undertaken by
the subsidiaries.

The Group and the Company’s exposures to credit and currency risks are disclosed in Note 26.
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Trade and other receivables (cont’d)

The Group’s receivables from the disposal of subsidiaries and other payables due to the purchaser that were offset in

2015 were as follows:

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables

Sources of estimation uncertainty

Gross
carrying
amounts
RMB’000

38,950

(13,910)

Group
Gross
amounts Net
offset in the amounts in
statement the statement
of financial of financial
position position
RMB’000 RMB’000
(13,910) 25,040
13,910 —

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that the loans and
receivables are impaired. To determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment, the Group considers factors
such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and default or significant delay in
payments. Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing of future cash flows are estimated

based on historical loss experience for debtors with similar credit risk characteristics.

Prepayments

Non-current:
Advance payments to sub-contractors

Current:
Prepaid operating expenses
Advance payments to sub-contractors

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents
Fixed deposits

Fixed deposit pledged for
bank facilities

Fixed deposit pledged for banker guarantees

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash
flows

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
11,880 - - -
8 1,256 8 11
5,221 48,217 - -
5,229 49,473 8 11
Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
65,477 609 164 197
146,182 — — —
211,659 609 164 197
(50,700) - - -
(95,482) - — -
65,477 609 164 197
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Share capital

Company
2016 2015

No. of RMB’000 RMB’000

shares S$°000 (equivalent) No. of shares S$°000 (equivalent)
Issued and fully paid:
At beginning of

the year 238,859,796 22,851 113,179 238,859,796 22,851 113,179

Issuance for cash 7,818,000 2,380 11,730 — - -
At end of the year 246,677,796 25,231 124,909 238,859,796 22,851 113,179

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one
vote per share at meetings of the Company. All shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

All issued shares are fully paid, with no par value.

Capital management

The Board’s policy is to maintain a sound capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to
sustain future development of the business. Capital consists of share capital, reserves, and accumulated profits. The
Board of Directors monitors the return on capital as well as the level of dividends to ordinary shareholders.

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve pertains to exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial

statements of the Company whose functional currency is SGD to the Group’s presentation currency of RMB.

Trade and other payables

Group Company

2016 2015 2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Third parties 199,951 38,006 - -
Bills payables 50,700 - - -
Other payables 19,142 15,117 — 1,094
Accrued operating expenses 27,251 2,504 2,903 908
Non-trade amount due to a director 15 1,510 - -
Non-trade amount due to a subsidiary - - 3,132 294
297,059 57,137 6,035 2,296

The bills payables are secured over the fixed deposits of RMB 50,700,000.
Non-trade amounts due to a director and a subsidiary are unsecured and are repayable on demand.

The Group and the Company’s exposures to currency and liquidity risks related to trade and other payables are
disclosed in Note 26.
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Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Non-current:
Loans from banks 274,274 - - -
Current:
Loans from banks 153,726 - - -
Loans from related parties 5,365 65,781 5,032 4,777
Loan from a shareholder - 940 - -
Loans from external parties - 36,595 - 11,595
159,091 103,316 5,032 16,372
Terms and debt repayment schedule
Terms and conditions of outstanding loans from banks are as follows:
2016 2015
Nominal
interest Year of Face Carrying Face Carrying
Currency rate maturity value amount value amount
% RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Group
Secured bank loan RMB Prime rate + 2017 - 2031 391,000 391,000 - -
0.60%
Secured bank loan RMB Prime rate + 2017 - 2024 27,000 27,000 - -
0.60%
Secured bank loan RMB Prime rate + 2017 10,000 10,000 - -
0.45%
428,000 428,000 - -

The loans from banks are secured over the service concession arrangements with certain government bodies and
agencies of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”).

The loan from external parties of RMB11.6 million bore interest at 15.37% per annum. The principal and the interest of
which had been offset against the consideration receivable arising from the disposal of the packaging business in 2016.
The remaining balance of RMB25.0 million related to loans and advances from external parties, which were unsecured,
interest-free and were repaid in 2016.

The loans from related parties and a shareholder are interest-free, unsecured and repayable on demand.

Information about the Group’s and the Company’s exposures to liquidity and interest rate risks are included in Note 26.
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Revenue

Construction contract revenue
Consultancy income
Sales of goods

Continuing operation

Discontinued operation

2016 2015 2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
761,348 87,300 - -
75,934 - - -
358 3,528 - 211,929
837,640 90,828 - 211,929

Sources of estimation uncertainty

Construction contract revenue and profit recognition on projects are dependent on estimating the eventual outcome
of the construction contract, as well as work done to date. Actual outcome in terms of total costs or revenue may
be higher or lower than estimated at the reporting date, which would affect the revenue and profit recognised in
future years. As at the reporting date, management considered that all costs to complete and revenue can be reliably

estimated.

Finance income

Interest income from banks
Unwinding of discount on service concession receivables

Group
2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
257 743
5,641 -
5,898 743
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Tax expense

Group
2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
Current tax expense
Current year 15,295 2,926
(Over)/Under provided in prior years (9,806) 618
Tax attributable to continuing operation 5,489 3,544
Tax attributable to discontinued operation — 2,575
5,489 6,119
Reconciliation of effective tax rate
Profit before tax:
Continuing operation 17,520 5,660
Discontinued operation - 15,922
17,520 21,582
Tax using the PRC tax rate of 25% (2015: 25%) 4,380 5,396
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdiction 503 (1,277)
Tax exempt income @) (2,102)
Non-deductible expenses 9,439 1,592
Recognition of previously unrecognised tax losses (2,976) -
Deferred tax asset not recognised 3,951 1,892
(Over)/Under provided in prior years (9,806) 618
5,489 6,119

The Group’s subsidiaries are subject to PRC corporate income tax rate of 25% (2015: 25%). Certain subsidiaries in
PRC enjoy concessionary tax rates due to tax incentive schemes.

Management believes they are able to enjoy tax concessions on certain projects. However, the actual business tax and
income tax payable on the Public-Private-Partnership (“PPP”) projects income is generally determined and agreed with
the relevant tax authorities in PRC, which might be different from the business tax and income tax provisions made in
the financial statements. Provision for tax has been made as such concessions are subject to the relevant authorities’
approval which has not been obtained as at the date of the financial statements.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

Group
2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
Unutilised tax losses 15,812 11,914

The tax losses are subject to agreement by the tax authorities and compliance with tax regulations in the PRC. The tax
losses do not expire under current tax legislation. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised by the subsidiaries in
respect of these items because it is not probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the Group
can utilised the benefits therefrom.
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Discontinued operation

As the Group intends to focus on its green technology business, the Company had in October 2015 entered into a
sale and purchase agreement to dispose its packaging business, namely Yourun Packaging Technology (Hangzhou)
Co., Ltd.. The legal completion of the disposal occurred in March 2016 but for the purpose of financial reporting, the
packaging business was considered disposed in October 2015, the date that control was lost.

Group
2015

RMB’000
Revenue 211,929
Expenses (196,007)
Results from operating activities 15,922
Tax expense (2,575)
Results from operating activities, net of tax 13,347
Loss on sale of discontinued operation (10,944)
Profit from discontinued operation, net of tax 2,403

For the financial year ended 31 December 2015, the profits from continuing operation and discontinued operation of
RMB2,116,000 and RMB2,403,000 respectively were attributable entirely to the owners of the Company.

Group
2015

RMB’000
Cash flows from (used in) discontinued operation
Net cash from operating activities 49,999
Net cash used in investing activities (22,181)
Net cash used in financing activities (28,783)
Net cash flows for the year 965
Effect of disposal on the financial position of the Group
Property, plant and equipment 69,260
Land use rights 12,470
Prepayment for plant and equipment 863
Long term investment 996
Deferred tax assets 1,256
Inventories 29,740
Trade and other receivables 104,153
Available-for-sale investment 18,450
Cash and cash equivalents 13,810
Deferred tax liabilities (2,632)
Trade and other payables (81,785)
Loans and borrowings (52,400)
Current tax payables (1,477)
Non-controlling interests (62,810)
Net assets attributable to owners of the Company 49,894
Deferred consideration (receivables) (38,950)
Loss on disposal (10,944)
Consideration received -
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (13,810)
Net cash outflow (13,810)
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Profit for the year

The following items have been included in arriving at profit for the year:

Group
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
Operating lease expenses 570 650
Foreign exchange loss, net 445 1,007
Audit fees paid to
- auditors of the Company 1,204 1,279
Non-audit fees:
- auditors of the Company 21 53
Salaries and bonuses 4,017 2,853
Contributions to defined contribution plans 423 391
Write-off of deferred expenditure 337 -
Allowance for impairment for contract work-in-progress 32,355 -
Loss on sales of discontinued operation, net of tax - 10,944

Earnings per share
Basic and diluted earnings per share

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders and
the weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding, calculated as follows:

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders

Group
2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
Basic and diluted earnings per share are based on:
Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders 12,034 (2,399)

Weighted-average number of ordinary shares
No. of shares

2016 2015

’000 000
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January 238,860 238,860
Effect of placement of shares in March 2016 6,319 —
Weighted average number of ordinary shares during the year 245,179 238,860
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Operating segments

Following the completion of the disposal of its packaging business and analysing the various type of projects in the
Green Technology business, the Group re-aligned its operating segments to conform with the new business units,
namely insulation, underground utility tunnel, project management and materials trading. These business units offer
different products and services, and are managed separately because they require different technology and marketing
strategies. The Group’s CEO (the chief operating decision maker) reviews internal management reports of each
business units at least quarterly.

Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is included below. Performance is measured based on
segment profit (loss) before tax, as included in the internal management reports that are reviewed by the Group’s
CEO. Segment profit (loss) is used to measure performance as management believes that such information is the most
relevant in evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other entities that operate within these industries.

Information about reportable segments

Underground Packaging
Utility Project Materials products
Insulation Tunnel Management Trading (Discontinued) Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Group
2016
External revenue 209,472 551,876 75,934 358 - 837,640
Inter-segment revenue — — — 153,001 — 153,001
Total revenue of reportable

segments 209,472 551,876 75,934 153,359 — 990,641
Finance income 3,215 2,632 51 — — 5,898
Finance costs - (11,711) - (6) - (11,717)
Depreciation and amortisation - 43 449 - - 492
Reportable segment (loss)/profit

before income tax (15,550) 26,777 13,668 (255) - 24,640
Allowance for impairment for

contract work-in-progress

and write off of deferred

expenditure - - 32,692 - - 32,692
Reportable segment assets 244 873 435,348 78,365 51,715 - 810,301
Capital expenditure - 117 248 3 - 368
Reportable segment liabilities 16,867 565,124 39,318 119,105 - 740,414
2015 (Restated)
External revenue 47,455 37,356 2,489 3,528 211,929 302,757
Inter-segment revenue - - - - - -
Total revenue of reportable

segments 47,455 37,356 2,489 3,528 211,929 302,757
Finance income - - 743 - 423 1,166
Finance costs - - 5,740 - 3,204 8,944
Depreciation and amortisation — — 561 - 9,582 10,143
Reportable segment profit/(loss)

before income tax 15,755 4,639 (6,781) 954 15,922 30,489
Other non-cash expenses - — — - 1,343 1,343
Reportable segment assets 17,390 7,264 157,033 4,128 - 185,815
Capital expenditure - - 709 - 2,217 2,934
Reportable segment liabilities 3,826 2,864 142,462 3,413 — 152,565
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Operating segments (cont’d)

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities and other material items

Revenue

Total revenue for reportable segments
Elimination of inter-segment revenue
Elimination of discontinued operation
Consolidated revenue

Profit or loss before income tax

Total profit before income tax for reportable segments
Other losses

Elimination of discontinued operation

Consolidated profit before tax

Assets

Total assets for reportable segments
Other assets

Consolidated total assets

Liabilities

Total liabilities for reportable segments
Other liabilities

Consolidated total liabilities

Other material items

2016

Finance income

Finance costs

Depreciation and amortisation

Allowance for impairment for contract work-in-progress and
write off of deferred expenditure

Capital expenditure

2015 (Restated)

Finance income

Finance costs

Depreciation and amortisation
Other non-cash expenses
Capital expenditure

Geographical information

Group
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000

Restated

990,641 302,757

(1583,001) -

- (211,929)

837,640 90,828

24,640 30,489

(7,120) (8,907)

- (15,922)

17,520 5,660

810,301 185,815

3,256 26,507

813,557 212,322

740,414 152,565

6,447 18,852

746,861 171,417

Reportable Consolidated
segment totals Adjustments totals

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
5,898 - 5,898
11,717 - 11,717
492 2 494
32,692 - 32,692
368 — 368
1,166 - 1,166
8,944 - 8,944
10,143 3 10,146
1,343 - 1,343
2,926 8 2,934

The Group’s revenue is derived from customers based in the PRC and substantially all the Group’s assets are located

in the PRC.
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Operating leases
Leases as lessee

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

Group
2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
Within one year 142 115

The Company entered into a commercial lease agreement for the rental of the office located in Singapore. The lease
has a remaining lease terms of 11 months with option for renewal.

Related party transactions

Key management personnel compensation

Key management personnel of the Group and the Company are those persons having the authority and responsibility
for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity. The directors and senior management staffs of the

Group and the Company are considered as key management personnel.

Key management personnel compensation, included in staff costs comprised:

Group
2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
Short term employee benefits 2,704 1,917
Defined contributions plans 191 142
2,895 2,059

Included in key management personnel compensation is directors’ remuneration of the Company of RMB1,593,000
(2015: RMB807,000).

Other related party transactions

Group
2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
Operating lease expenses charged by related party 400 350
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Service concession arrangements

Group
2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
Service concession receivables:
Underground utility tunnel project 295,513 38,643
Insulation project 228,520 49,090
524,033 87,733

The Group has entered into two service concession arrangements with certain governing bodies and agencies of the
government of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) to construct and operate underground utility tunnel and upgrade
the existing housing estate on PPP basis. These service concession arrangements generally involve the Group to
construct and operate an asset or a group of assets at a specified level of serviceability on behalf of the relevant
governmental authorities for periods ranging from 11 to 26 years (the “service concession periods”), and the Group will
be paid for its services over the relevant periods of the service concession arrangements at prices stipulated through
agreed pricing mechanism. At the end of the service concession periods, the assets will be transferred to the respective
grantors.

During the year, the Group recorded revenue and profit of RMB761,348,000 and RMB6,724,000 respectively (2015:
RMB84,811,000 and RMB17,043,000) from the service concession arrangements.

The service concession receivables represent revenue recognised in relation to construction of the projects. Revenue is
determined based on the percentage of completion during the year.

A summary of the major terms of the service concession arrangements entered into by the Group is set out below:

Type of service Service

Name of subsidiary as Project Location in Name of concession concession
operator name PRC grantor arrangement period

Harbin Utilities Tunnel ~ FA/RIETTHLTR Harbin City,  FMA/RiEETINZ #i1%  PPP (Financial From 2015 to

Construction and SREERIH Heilongjiang Zhe assets) 2041
Management Co., Ltd (Underground Province
(“HUTCAM”) utility tunnel
project)

Harbin Prevailing ~ M/RIETTREA @& Harbin City, — M/RIETIIN 2 @i PPP (Financial From 2015 to

Municipal Engineering  — M1 GE0E Heilongjiang Zhe assets) 2026
Co., Ltd (“‘HPME”) IiH (Insulation Province
project)
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Financial risk management
Overview

The Group has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments:

. credit risk;
. liquidity risk; and
o market risk

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies
and processes for measuring and managing risk.

Risk management framework

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management
framework.

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and
systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group, through
its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control
environment in which all employees understand their rules and obligations.

The Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management policies and
procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet
its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers.

The carrying amounts of financial assets in the statements of financial position represent the Group and the Company’s
respective maximum exposures to credit risk, before taking into account any collateral held. The Group and the
Company do not hold any collateral in respect of their financial assets.

Risk management policy

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade and other receivables. The Group and the Company
minimise credit risk by dealing exclusively with high credit rating counterparties.

The Group has established a credit policy under which each new customer is analysed individually for creditworthiness
before the Group’s standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. The Group’s review includes
external ratings, when available, and in some cases bank references. Customers failing to meet the Group’s benchmark
creditworthiness may transact with the Group only on a prepayment basis. In addition, for transactions that do not
occur in the country of the relevant operating unit, the Group does not offer credit terms without the specific approval
of management. As the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for
collateral.
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Financial risk management (cont’d)
Exposure to credit risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was as follows:

Group Company
Note 2016 2015 2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Trade and other receivables 9 582,512 126,483 22,467 25,219
Cash and cash equivalents 11 211,659 609 164 197
794,171 127,092 22,631 25,416

The Group’s most significant customer, an agency of the PRC government, accounts for 90% of the carrying amounts
of trade and other receivables as at 31 December 2016 (2015: 69%). As at 31 December 2015, the receivables from
the disposal of subsidiaries accounted for 99% of the Company’s trade and other receivables.

Impairment

The ageing of trade and other receivables that were not impaired at the reporting date was:

Group Company
2016 2015 2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Not past due 581,218 118,483 22,467 25,219
More than 90 days 1,294 8,000 - -
582,512 126,483 22,467 25,219

Based on historic default rates, the Group believes that no impairment allowance is necessary.
Liquidity risk
Risk management policy

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to
ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal
and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

Typically the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses, including the
servicing of financial obligations; this excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be
predicted, such as natural disasters.

Following the completion of the insulation project and achievement of 68% completion of the utility tunnel project, the
Group has received the construction payments from the grantor in accordance with the Group’s contractual rights in the

respective service concession arrangements.

At the reporting date, the Group maintains RMB66,000,000 of uncommitted credit facilities that can be drawn down to
meet short-term financing needs.
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The Group relies on continuing financial support from the Group’s bankers. The Group’s and the Company’s liquidity
risk management policy is to maintain sufficient liquid financial assets and credit facilities with reputable banks.
Substantial amounts of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are deposited with reputable financial institutions such
as DBS Bank Ltd, Bank of Communications, Agricultural Bank of China, China Construction Bank and etc. so as to
provide the Group with the flexibility to meet working capital and capital investment needs.

Exposure to liquidity risk

The following are the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities. The amounts are gross and undiscounted,
and include contractual interest payments and exclude the impact of netting agreements:

Contractual cash flows

84

Carrying Within Within More than
amount Total 1 year 2 to 5 years 5 years
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Group
2016
Non-derivative financial
liabilities
Trade and other payables 297,059 (297,059) (297,059) - -
Loans and borrowings 433,365 (566,001) (164,040) (55,124) (346,837)
730,424 (863,060) (461,099) (55,124) (346,837)
Contractual cash flows
Carrying Within
amount Total 1 year
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Group
2015
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 57,137 (567,137) (57,137)
Loans and borrowings 103,316 (103,316) (103,316)
160,453 (160,453) (160,453)
Company
2016
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 6,035 (6,035) (6,035)
Loans and borrowings 5,032 (5,032) (5,032)
11,067 (11,067) (11,067)
2015
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 2,296 (2,296) (2,296)
Loans and borrowings 16,372 (16,372) (16,372)
18,668 (18,668) (18,668)
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The maturity analysis shows the contractual undiscounted cash flows of the Group and the Company’s financial
liabilities on the basis of their earliest possible contractual maturity. It is not expected that the cash flows included in
the maturity analysis of the above could occur significantly earlier, or at significantly different amounts.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the
Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to
manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

Currency risk

The Group operates predominantly in PRC and usually transacts in RMB, the official currency in China. Currently, the
PRC government imposes control over foreign currencies. RMB is not freely convertible. Enterprises operating in the
PRC can enter into exchange transactions through the People’s Bank of China or other authorised financial institutions.
Payments for imported materials or services and remittance of earnings of the subsidiaries to the Company, which
is outside of the PRC, are subject to the availability of foreign currencies which depends on the foreign currency
denominated earnings of the enterprise, or exchanges of RMB for foreign currency must be arranged through the
People’s Bank of China or other authorised financial institutions. Approval for exchanges at the People’s Bank of China
or other authorised financial institutions is granted to enterprises in the PRC for valid reasons such as purchase of
imported materials and remittance of earnings. While conversion of RMB into Singapore dollars or other currencies
can generally be effected at the People’s Bank of China or other authorised financial institutions, there is no guarantee
that it can be effected at all times.

The Group does not have significant currency exposures.

Transactional currency exposures arising from sales or purchases that are denominated in a currency other than the
respective functional currencies of Group entities, primarily SGD and RMB, are not significant.

The Group manages its foreign exchange exposure risk by matching, as far as possible, receipts and payments in each
individual currency. Foreign currency is converted into the relevant functional currency as and when the management
deemed necessary. The unhedged exposure is reviewed and monitored closely on an ongoing basis and management
will consider hedging any material exposure where appropriate.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s and Company’s exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily from interest-bearing loans and borrowings.
The Group does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge its interest rate risk.

The Group policy is to manage interest cost using a mix of fixed and floating rate debts.
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Financial risk management (cont’d)
Exposure to interest rate risk

At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments, as reported to the
management, was as follows:

Group
Nominal amount
2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000
Fixed rate instruments
Cash and cash equivalents 146,182 11,600

Variable rate instruments
Loans and borrowings 428,000 -

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased (decreased) equity and profit

or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency
exchange rates, remain constant.

Profit or loss

100bp 100bp
increase decrease
RMB’000 RMB’000
Group
31 December 2016
Loans and borrowings (4,280) 4,280
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Accounting classifications and fair values

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the statements of financial
position, are as follows:

Carrying amount Fair Value
Loans and Other financial
Note receivables liabilities Total Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Group

31 December 2016
Trade and other receivables 9 582,512 - 582,512 581,778
Cash and cash equivalents 11 211,659 - 211,659 211,659
794,171 - 794,171 793,437
Trade and other payables 14 - (297,059) (297,059) (297,059)
Loans and borrowings 15 - (433,365) (433,365) (433,365)
- (730,424) (730,424) (730,424)

31 December 2015
Trade and other receivables 9 126,483 - 126,483 126,483
Cash and cash equivalents 11 609 - 609 609
127,092 - 127,092 127,092
Trade and other payables 14 - (57,137) (57,137) (57,137)
Loans and borrowings 15 - (103,316) (103,316) (103,316)
— (160,453) (160,453) (160,453)
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Carrying amount Fair Value
Loans and Other financial
Note receivables liabilities Total Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Company
31 December 2016
Trade and other receivables 9 22,467 - 22,467 22,467
Cash and cash equivalents 11 164 - 164 164
22,631 - 22,631 22,631
Trade and other payables 14 - (6,035) (6,035) (6,035)
Loans and borrowings 15 - (5,032) (5,032) (5,032)
- (11,067) (11,067) (11,067)
31 December 2015
Trade and other receivables 9 25,219 - 25,219 25,219
Cash and cash equivalents 11 197 - 197 197
25,416 — 25,416 25,416
Trade and other payables 14 - (2,296) (2,296) (2,296)
Loans and borrowings 15 - (16,372) (16,372) (16,372)
— (18,668) (18,668) (18,668)

Determination of fair values

Fair value of non-current financial assets, used for disclosure purposes, are calculated based on discounted expected
future cash flows at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.

The carrying amounts of other financial assets and liabilities with maturity of less than one year (including trade and
other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, and trade and other payables) are assumed to approximate their fair
value because of the short term period to maturity.

27 Comparative information

The comparative figures for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 were audited by another auditor.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION AS AT 15 MARCH 2017

No of equity securities : 246,677,796
Class of shares : Ordinary share
Voting rights : One vote per share

There is no treasury share held in the issued capital of the Company.

STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

NO. OF
SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS SHAREHOLDERS % NO. OF SHARES %
1-99 - - - -
100 - 1,000 30 19.23 25,624 0.01
1,001 - 10,000 75 48.08 393,500 0.16
10,001 - 1,000,000 38 24.36 3,601,800 1.46
1,000,001 AND ABOVE 13 8.33 242,656,872 98.37
TOTAL 156 100.00 246,677,796 100.00
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
(As recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders)

Direct Interest Deemed Interest

Substantial Shareholders No. of Shares % No. of Shares %
Zhao Lizhi ™ 67,518,111 27.37 30,000,000 12.16
Li Mingyang ™ - - 45,000,000 18.24
Chan Mang Ghoon 16,606,000 6.73 - -

Note:

(1)  Zhao Lizhi and Li Mingyang are deemed to be interested in the shares held by BNP Paribas Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd by virtue of
Section 7 of the Companies Act.
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TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

NO. NAME NO. OF SHARES %
1 BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 83,360,000 33.79
2 ZHAQO LIZHI 67,518,111 27.37
3 PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 28,128,500 11.40
4 CHAN MANG GHOON 16,606,000 6.73
5 OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LIMITED 9,782,861 3.97
6 JIANG JUNWEI 8,880,000 3.60
7 YU BINYAN 7,166,000 2.91
8 DBS VICKERS SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD 6,637,400 2.69
9 UOB KAY HIAN PRIVATE LIMITED 4,594,000 1.86
10 WANG TENGDA 4,327,000 1.75
11 ZHANG LI 2,194,000 0.89
12 WANG PENGRUI 2,000,000 0.81
13 MAYBANK KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE. LTD. 1,463,000 0.59
14 DERRICK ONG KENG GEE 367,900 0.15
15 CHEN LIPING 312,000 0.13
16 LOH SER SOON 300,000 0.12
17 HL BANK NOMINEES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD 299,000 0.12
18 ABN AMRO CLEARING BANK N.V. 280,100 0.11
19 GU JIEYING 250,000 0.10
20 TAN LING LEE 200,000 0.08
20 WANG LULU 200,000 0.08
TOTAL 244,865,872 99.25

PERCENTAGE OF SHAREHOLDINGS IN PUBLIC’S HANDS

35.50% of the Company’s shares are held in the hands of public. Accordingly, the Company has complied with Rule 723
of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of GREEN BUILD TECHNOLOGY LIMITED will be held at Shibuya
Room at level 4 of TKP Conference Centre, 137 Cecil Street, Singapore 069537 on 27 April 2017 at 10.00 a.m. for the following

purposes:
AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Audited Accounts for the financial year ended 31 December 2016
together with the Directors’ Statement and the Auditors’ Report of the Company.

2. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of up to S$170,000 or the financial year ending 31
December 2017 to be paid quarterly in arrears.

3. To re-elect Mr Zhao Lizhi, who is retiring in accordance with Article 91 of the Company’s
Constitution, as Director of the Company.

[See Explanatory Note (i)]

4. To re-elect Mr Kuan Cheng Tuck, who is retiring in accordance with Article 91 of the Company’s
Constitution, as Director of the Company.

[See Explanatory Note (ii)]

5. To re-appoint Mr Gallen Tay Wi Keng, who is retiring in accordance with Article 97 of the
Company’s Constitution, as Director of the Company.

[See Explanatory Note (iii)]

6. To re-appoint Mr Dong Congwen, who is retiring in accordance with Article 97 of the
Company’s Constitution, as Director of the Company.

[See Explanatory Note (iv)]

7. To re-appoint KPMG LLP as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors to fix
their remuneration.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions, with or
without modifications:

(Resolution 1)

(Resolution 2)

(Resolution 3)

(Resolution 4)

(Resolution 5)

(Resolution 6)

(Resolution 7)
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Authority to issue shares

“That, pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the “Act”) and Rule 806(2)
of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”),
authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to allot and issue shares
and convertible securities in the Company at any time and upon such terms and conditions
and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors may in their absolute discretion
deem fit, to:

(@)

(b)

(©

issue shares in the capital of the Company whether by way of rights, bonus or
otherwise;

make or grant offers, agreements or options that might or would require shares to be
issued or other transferable rights to subscribe for or purchase shares (collectively,
“Instruments”) including but not limited to the creation and issue of warrants,
debentures or other instruments convertible into shares; and

issue additional Instruments arising from adjustments made to the number of
Instruments previously issued in the event of rights, bonus or capitalisation issues;

and (notwithstanding that the authority conferred by the shareholders may have ceased to be
in force) issue shares pursuant to any Instrument made or granted by the Directors while the
authority was in force, provided always that:

V)

the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to this resolution (including
shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments, made or granted pursuant to this
resolution) does not exceed fifty per centum (50%) of the Company’s total number of
issued shares excluding treasury shares, of which the aggregate number of shares
(including shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant
to this resolution) to be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to shareholders of the
Company does not exceed twenty per centum (20%) of the total number of issued
shares excluding treasury shares, and for the purpose of this resolution, the total
number of issued shares excluding treasury shares shall be the Company’s total
number of issued shares excluding treasury shares at the time this resolution is
passed, after adjusting for:

(A) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of convertible securities, or

(B) new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards
outstanding or subsisting at the time this resolution is passed, or

(C)  any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of the Company’s
shares; and

such authority shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company at a general meeting,
continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting or the date
by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be
held, whichever is earlier”

[See Explanatory Note (v)]

(Resolution 8)
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Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for Interested Person Transactions

“That for the purposes of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited:

(a)

(b)

approval be given for the renewal of the mandate for the Company, its subsidiaries and
associated companies or any of them to enter into any of the transactions falling within
the types of Interested Person Transactions as set out in the Appendix to the Annual
Report (the “Appendix”) with any party who is of the class of Interested Persons
described in the Appendix, provided that such transactions are carried out on normal
commercial terms and in accordance with the review procedures of the Company for
such Interested Person Transactions as set out in the Appendix (the “Shareholders’
Mandate”);

the Shareholders’ Mandate shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general
meeting, continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of
the Company or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is
required by law to be held, whichever is earlier; and

authority be given to the Directors of the Company to complete and do all such acts
and things (including executing all such documents as may be required) as they may
consider necessary, desirable or expedient to give effect to the Shareholders’ Mandate
as they may think fit”

[See Explanatory Note (vi)]

To transact any other business which may properly be transacted at an Annual General
Meeting.

By Order of the Board

Wu Xueying

Chief Executive Officer

(Resolution 9)

12 April 2017

Explanatory Notes:

() Mr Zhao Lizhi will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as an Executive Chairman of the Company.

(i) Mr Kuan Cheng Tuck will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as a Non-Executive and Independent Director, the
Chairman of the Audit and Remuneration Committees, and a member of the Nominating Committee. Mr Kuan Cheng Tuck will be
considered independent for the purpose of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST.

(i) Mr Gallen Tay Wi Keng will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as a Non-Executive and Independent Director of the
Company, the Chairman of the Nominating Committee, and a member of the Audit and Remuneration Committees. Mr Gallen Tay Wi Keng
will be considered independent for the purpose of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST.

(iv) Mr Dong Congwen will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as a Non-Executive and Independent Director of the

Company, and a member of the Audit, Nominating and Remuneration Committees. Mr Dong Congwen will be considered independent for
the purpose of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST

93



GREEN BUILD TECHNOLOGY LIMITED  Annual Report 2016

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

(v)

(vi)

Notes:

™

)

(©)

4)

)

94

Ordinary Resolution 8 proposed in item 8 is to empower the Directors, from the date of the passing of Ordinary Resolution 8 to the date
of the next Annual General Meeting, to issue shares in the capital of the Company and to make or grant instruments (such as warrants or
debentures) convertible into shares, and to issue shares in pursuance of such instruments, up to an amount not exceeding in total 50%
of the issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company, with a sub-limit of 20% of the issued shares (excluding
treasury shares) for issues other than on a pro-rata basis to shareholders.

The Ordinary Resolution 9 proposed in item 9 above, if passed, will authorise the Interested Person Transactions as described in the
Appendix to the Annual Report and recurring in the year and will empower the Directors of the Company to do all acts necessary to
give effect to the Shareholders’ Mandate. This authority will, unless previously revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting,
expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the
Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier.

A member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies (not more than two) to attend
and vote on his/her behalf. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

A member who is a relevant intermediary entitled to attend the meeting and vote is entitled to appoint more than two proxies to attend
and vote instead of the member, but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different Share or Shares held by
such member. Where such member appoints more than two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless the member specifies the
number of Shares in relation to which each proxy has been appointed.

“Relevant intermediary” means:

(a) a banking corporation licensed under the Banking Act (Cap. 19) of Singapore or a wholly-owned subsidiary of such a banking
corporation, whose business includes the provision of nominee services and who holds shares in that capacity;

(b) a person holding a capital markets services licence to provide custodial services for securities under the Securities and Futures
Act (Cap. 289) of Singapore and who holds shares in that capacity; or

(c) the Central Provident Fund Board established by the Central Provident Fund Act (Cap. 36) of Singapore, in respect of shares
purchased under the subsidiary legislation made under that Act providing for the making of investments from the contributions
and interest standing to the credit of members of the Central Provident Fund, if the Board holds those shares in the capacity of
an intermediary pursuant to or in accordance with that subsidiary legislation.

The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his/her attorney duly authorised in writing.
Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its seal or under the
hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.

The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 9 Temasek Boulevard Suntec
City Tower 2 #09-01, Singapore 038989 at least 48 hours before the time fixed for the Annual General Meeting. A Depositor's name must
appear in the Depository Register maintained by the Central Depository (Pte) Limited not less than 72 hours before the time appointed
for the holding of the AGM in order for him to be entitled to vote at the AGM.

By attending the Annual General Meeting and/or any adjournment thereof or submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or
representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the Annual General Meeting and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company
(i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the member’s personal data by the Company (or its agents) for the purpose of the
processing and administration by the Company (or its agents) of proxies and representatives appointed for the Annual General Meeting
(including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating
to the Annual General Meeting (including any adjournment thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents) to comply with any
applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the member discloses
the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to the Company (or its agents), the member has obtained the prior
consent of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or its agents) of the personal
data of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member will indemnify the Company in respect
of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s breach of warranty.
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APPENDIX — RENEWAL OF SHAREHOLDERS’ MANDATE FOR INTERESTED PERSON
TRANSACTIONS

1. Background
The Board of Directors of Green Build Technology Limited (the “Company”) refer to:

(a) the notice of the Thirteenth Annual General Meeting of the Company dated 12 April 2017 (the “Notice”)
convening the Thirteenth Annual General Meeting (“Thirteenth AGM”) of the Company to be held on Thursday,
27 April 2017, which accompanies this annual report of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December
2016 (“Annual Report”); and

(b) Resolution 9 under the heading “Special Business” as set out in the Notice.
2. Shareholders’ Mandate

Pursuant to the Company’s Circular dated 11 September 2014 (the “Circular”), approval of the shareholders of the
Company (“Shareholders”) was deemed obtained for a shareholders’ mandate (the “Shareholders’ Mandate”) to
enable the Company and its subsidiaries which are considered to be “entities at risk” within the meaning of Rule
904(2) of the listing manual (the “Listing Manual’) of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the
“SGX-ST”), in their ordinary course of businesses, to enter into categories of transactions with specified classes of
the Company’s interested persons, provided that such transactions are entered into on an arm’s length basis and on
normal commercial terms. The details of the interested person transactions and shareholders’ mandate were disclosed
in pages 19 to 25 of the said Circular.

3. Proposed Renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate

The Shareholders’ Mandate was expressed to take effect until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of
the Company (“AGM”). Accordingly, the Directors propose that the Shareholders’ Mandate be renewed at the Thirteenth
AGM, to take effect until the Fourteenth AGM of the Company.

4. Details of the Shareholders’ Mandate

Details of the Shareholders’ Mandate, including the rationale for, and the benefits to, the Company, the review
procedures for determining transaction prices with interested persons and other general information relating to Chapter
9 of the Listing Manual, are set out in the annexure of this Appendix (the “Annexure”).

5. Audit Committee Statement
The Audit Committee has reviewed the terms of the Shareholders’ Mandate and confirms that:

(a) the review procedures for determining the transaction prices under the Shareholders’ Mandate have not changed
since the conclusion of the Twelfth Annual General Meeting convened on the 29 April 2016 and the Extraordinary
General Meeting convened on 3 October 2014 when the Shareholders’ Mandate had been approved; and

(b) the review procedures referred to in paragraph 7 of the Annexure are sufficient to ensure that the transactions
will be carried out on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests of the Company and
its minority Shareholders.

If, during the periodic reviews by the Audit Committee, it is of the view that the established review procedures are
no longer appropriate or adequate to ensure that the interested person transactions will be transacted on normal
commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests of the Company and minority Shareholders, the Company
will seek a fresh mandate from Shareholders based on new review procedures.
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Directors’ and Substantial Shareholders’ Interests

The interests of the directors and substantial shareholders of the Company in the issued share capital of the Company
as at 15 March 2017 can be found on page 39 and 89 of this Annual Report.

Abstention from Voting

Mr Zhao Lizhi, who is the Executive Chairman and Director of the Company, has interests in the shares of the
Interested Person (as described in paragraph 5.1 of the Annexure to this Appendix), and also holds directorship and/
or executive position in it. He and his respective associates will abstain from voting on Resolution 9 being the Ordinary
Resolution relating to the proposed renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate in respect of their shareholdings in the
Company, if any, at the Thirteenth AGM.

Directors’ Recommendation

The Directors who are considered independent for the purposes of the proposed renewal of the Shareholders Mandate
are Ms Wu Xueying, Mr Li Mingyang, Mr Kuan Cheng Tuck, Mr Gallen Tay Wi Keng and Mr Dong Congwen (the
“Independent Directors”). The Independent Directors are of the opinion that the entry into of the Interested Person
Transactions between the EAR Group (as described in paragraph 2.2 of the Annexure to this Appendix) and those
Interested Persons (as described in paragraph 5.1 of the Annexure to this Appendix) in the ordinary course of its
business will be entered into to enhance the efficiency of the EAR Group and are in the best interests of the Company.

For the reasons set out in paragraphs 2, 4 and 8 of the Annexure to this Appendix, the Independent Directors
recommend that Shareholders vote in favour of Resolution 9, being the Ordinary Resolution relating to the proposed
renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate at the Thirteenth AGM.

Directors’ Responsibility Statement

The Directors collectively and individually accept responsibility for the accuracy of the information given herein and
confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the facts stated and the
opinions expressed herein are fair and accurate and that there are no material facts the omission of which would make
any statement herein misleading.

Action To Be Taken By Shareholders

If a Shareholder is unable to attend the Thirteenth AGM and wishes to appoint a proxy to attend and vote on his/her/
their behalf, he/her/they should complete, sign and return the attached Proxy Form in accordance with the instructions
printed thereon as soon as possible and, in any event, so as to reach the registered office of the Company at 9
Temasek Boulevard, #09-01 Suntec Tower Four, Singapore 038989 not later than 10.00 a.m. on 25 April 2017.
Completion and return of the Proxy Form by a Shareholder will not prevent him from attending and voting at the AGM
if he so wishes. In addition, in the case of shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject a Proxy
Form if the Shareholder, being the appointor, is not shown to have shares entered against his/her/their name(s) in
the Depository Register as at 72 hours before the time appointed for holding the Thirteenth AGM, as certified by The
Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

SGX-ST

The SGX-ST takes no responsibility for the accuracy of any statements or opinions made in this Appendix and the
accompanying Annexure.
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ANNEXURE - THE SHAREHOLDERS’ MANDATE

1.1.

1.2.

1.3.

1.4.

1.5.

Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual

Chapter 9 of the listing manual (the “Listing Manual”) of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the
“SGX-ST”) governs transactions by a listed company, as well as transactions by its subsidiaries and associated
companies that are considered to be at risk, with the listed company’s interested persons. When this Chapter applies
to a transaction and the value of that transaction alone or on aggregation with other transactions conducted with the
interested person during the financial year reaches, or exceeds, certain materiality thresholds, the listed company is
required to make an immediate announcement, or to make an immediate announcement and seek its shareholders’
approval for that transaction.

Except for certain transactions which, by reason of the nature of such transactions, are not considered to put the
listed company at risk to its interested person and hence are excluded from the ambit of Chapter 9 of the Listing
Manual, immediate announcement(s), or immediate announcement(s) and shareholders’ approval would be required
in respect of transactions with interested persons if certain financial thresholds (which are based on the value of the
transaction as compared with the listed company’s latest audited consolidated net tangible assets (“NTA”)) are reached
or exceeded. In particular, shareholders’ approval is required for an interested person transaction of a value equal to, or
which exceeds:

(a) 5% of the listed company’s latest audited consolidated NTA; or

(b) 5% of the listed company’s latest audited consolidated NTA, when aggregated with other transactions entered
into with the same interested person (as such term is construed under Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual) during
the same financial year.

Based on the latest audited consolidated accounts of Green Build Technology Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the Company and its subsidiaries shall hereinafter be referred to as the “Group”) for the
financial year ended 31 December 2016, the consolidated net tangible assets of the Group was approximately
RMB 65,624,000. As such, in relation to the Company, for the purposes of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual, in the
current financial year and until such time as the consolidated audited accounts of the Group for the next financial
year are published, 5% of the latest audited consolidated net tangible assets of the Group would be approximately
RMB 3,281,200.

Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual permits a listed company, however, to seek a mandate from its shareholders for
recurrent transactions of a revenue or trading nature or those necessary for its day-to-day operations such as the
purchase and sale of supplies and materials (but not in respect of the purchase or sale of assets, undertakings or
businesses) that may be carried out with the listed company’s interested persons (the “Shareholders’ Mandate”).
Under the Listing Manual:-
(a) an “entity at risk” means:

(i) the listed company;

(i) a subsidiary of the listed company that is not listed on the SGX-ST or an approved exchange; or

(iii) an associated company of the listed company that is not listed on the SGX-ST or an approved exchange,

provided that the listed company and/or its subsidiaries (the “listed group”), or the listed group and its

interested person(s), has control over the associated company;

(b) an “interested person” means a director, chief executive officer or controlling shareholder of the listed company
or an associate of any such director, chief executive officer or controlling shareholder;
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(c) an “associate” means, in relation to an interested person who is a director, chief executive officer, substantial or
controlling shareholder:

(i) an immediate family member (that is, the spouse, child, adopted-child, step-child, sibling and parent) of
such director, chief executive officer or controlling shareholder;

(ii) the trustees of any trust of which the director or his immediate family, the chief executive officer or his
immediate family or controlling shareholder or his immediate family is a beneficiary or, in the case of a
discretionary trust, is a discretionary object;

(iii) any company in which the director and his immediate family, the chief executive officer and his immediate
family or controlling shareholder and his immediate family has an aggregate interest (directly or indirectly)
of 30% or more; and

(iv)  where a substantial shareholder or a controlling shareholder which is a corporation, its subsidiary or
holding company or fellow subsidiary or a company in which it and/or they have (directly or indirectly) an

interest of 30% or more;

(d) an “approved exchange” means a stock exchange that has rules which safeguard the interests of shareholders
against interested person transactions according to similar principles in Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual; and

(e) an “interested person transaction” means a transaction between an entity at risk and an interested person.

Rationale for the Shareholders’ Mandate

It is envisaged that in the ordinary course of their businesses, transactions between companies in the EAR Group (as
defined below) and the Company’s Interested Persons (as defined in paragraph 5 below) are likely to occur from time
to time. Such transactions would include the provision of goods and services in the ordinary course of business of the
EAR Group to the Company’s interested persons.

In view of the time-sensitive nature of commercial transactions, the obtaining of the Shareholders Mandate pursuant to
Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual will enable:

(a) the Company;

(b) subsidiaries of the Company (other than a subsidiary that is listed on the SGX-ST or an approved exchange);
and

(c) associated companies of the Company (other than an associated company that is listed on the SGX-ST or an
approved exchange) over which the Group, or the Group and interested person(s) of the Company, has or have
control, (together, the “EAR Group”), or any of them,

in the ordinary course of their businesses, to enter into the categories of transactions (“Interested Person
Transactions”) set out in paragraph 6 below with the specified classes of the Company’s interested person(s) (the
“Interested Person(s)”) set out in paragraph 5.1 below, provided such Interested Person Transactions are made on
normal commercial terms.

The Shareholders’ Mandate

The Shareholders’ Mandate will cover the range of activities detailed in paragraph 6 below.

The Shareholders’ Mandate will not cover an Interested Person Transaction which has a value less than S$100,000 as
the threshold and aggregation requirements contained in Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual would not apply to such an
Interested Person Transaction.
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Transactions with interested persons (including the Interested Persons) that do not fall within the ambit of the
Shareholders’ Mandate will be subject to the relevant provisions of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual and/or other
applicable provisions of the Listing Manual.

The Shareholders’ Mandate will take effect from the date of the passing of Resolution 9 as stipulated in the notice of the
Thirteenth Annual General Meeting of the Company (the “Thirteenth AGM”) relating to the renewal of the Shareholders’
Mandate to be proposed at the Thirteenth AGM to be held on Thursday, 27 April 2017 until the next Annual General
Meeting of the Company.

Benefits of the Shareholders Mandate

The Shareholders’ Mandate (and its subsequent renewal thereafter on an annual basis) will enhance the ability of
companies in the EAR Group to pursue business opportunities which are time-sensitive in nature, and will eliminate
the need for the Company to announce, or to announce and convene separate general meetings on each occasion to
seek Shareholders’ prior approval for the entry by the relevant company in the EAR Group into such transactions. This
will substantially reduce the expenses associated with the convening of general meetings on an ad hoc basis, improve
administrative efficacy considerably, and allow manpower resources and time to be channelled towards attaining other
corporate objectives.

Classes of Interested Persons

The Shareholders’ Mandate will apply to the Group’s interested person transactions with Harbin Dali Aluminium Doors
& Windows Products Co., Ltd. (the “Interested Person”).

Transactions with the Interested Person, which do not fall within the ambit of the proposed Shareholders Mandate, shall
be subject to the relevant provisions of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual.

Categories of Interested Person Transactions

The Interested Person Transaction that will be covered by the Shareholders’ Mandate refer to the purchase of supplies
and materials from Interested Persons.

Review Procedures for Interested Person Transactions

The Group’s principal activities include that of upgrading existing housing estates using green architecture and green
technology. As part of such upgrading projects, the EAR Group may enter into transactions with the Interested Person
in the ordinary course of business to purchase supplies and materials for use in the upgrading projects.

In general, the EAR Group has internal control procedures to ensure that the Interested Person Transactions are
undertaken on an arm’s length basis and on normal commercial terms consistent with the EAR Group’s usual practices
and policies, which (in relation to services or products to be provided to or procured from the Interested Person) are
no more favourable than those extended to unrelated third parties. As a general practice, the EAR Group will only
enter into transactions with the Interested Person if the terms offered by the Interested Person are no less favourable
than that offered by unrelated third parties. The Audit Committee will also review and approve the transactions where
applicable, as further described below.
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(@)

7.3.1.
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the Chief Financial Officer (and/or the Financial Controller, as the case may be), of the Group and the finance
manager of the relevant EAR Group entity entering into the Interested Person Transaction (collectively, the
“Finance Team”) shall review quotations obtained from the Interested Person and at least two (2) other quotes
from unrelated third parties. The EAR Group will only enter into transactions with such Interested Person
provided the quotation offered by the Interested Person, after taking into consideration various factors including,
inter alia, credit standing, volume of transactions, delivery requirements, age of products, product attachments,
tenure of business relationship and potential for future repeat business, are no less favourable than those offered
by the unrelated third parties, when compared to at least two latest similar transactions between the EAR Group
and unrelated third parties; and

where it is not possible to compare the terms of an Interested Person Transaction against the terms of other
transactions with unrelated third parties, the Finance Team will consider whether the pricing of the Interested
Person Transactions is in accordance with the EAR Group’s usual business practices and pricing policies, and
consistent with the usual unit costs (i.e. the unit costs chargeable by third parties at market rate for similar
goods supplied by them) to be obtained for the same or substantially similar types of transactions, to determine
whether the relevant transaction is carried out at arm’s length and on normal commercial terms.

Approval by Directors and Audit Committee

In addition to the guidelines and review procedures set out above, the following approval procedures will be
implemented to supplement existing internal control procedures and ensure that the Interested Person
Transactions are undertaken on an arms’ length basis and on normal commercial terms:

(a) the review and approval of the Financial Controller and any one Director (with no interest, direct or
indirect, in the Interested Person Transaction) is required for any Interested Person Transaction where the
value thereof is below the lower of, RMB 5 Million or 3% of the Group’s latest audited NTA; and

(b) the review and approval of the Audit Committee is required for any Interested Person Transaction where
the value thereof is equal to, or above the lower of, RMB 5 Million or 3% of the Group’s latest audited
NTA.

The approval thresholds set out above will be adopted by the Company taking into account, inter alia, the nature,
volume, recurrent frequency and size of the Interested Person Transactions, as well as the EAR Group’s day-to-
day operations, administration and businesses. The threshold limits are arrived at as a result of a balancing
exercise after considering the operational efficiency for the day-to-day business operations of the Group and the
internal controls for interested person transactions.

In addition, the above review includes the examination of the Interested Person Transactions and its supporting
documents or such other data deemed necessary by the Directors or the Audit Committee. The Finance Team
will prepare the relevant information to assist the Directors or the Audit Committee in its review. The Directors or
the Audit Committee shall, when it deems fit, have the right to require the appointment of independent advisers
and/or valuers to provide additional information or review of controls and its implementation pertaining to the
Interested Person Transactions under review.
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7.3.2. Periodic Review Procedures

The EAR Group has also implemented the following procedures for the identification of Interested Persons and
the record of all Interested Person Transactions:

(a)

(©

(d)

the Finance Team will maintain a list of Interested Persons and their Associates (which is to be updated
immediately if there are any changes) to enable identification of Interested Persons. The list of Interested
Persons which is maintained shall be reviewed quarterly by the Chief Financial Officer (and/or the
Financial Controller, as the case may be) and subject to such verifications or declarations as required by
the Audit Committee from time to time or for such period as determined by them. This list of Interested
Persons shall be disseminated to all staff of the Group that the Finance Team considers relevant for the
purpose of entering into transactions that fall under the Shareholders’ Mandate;

the Finance Team will maintain a register of transactions carried out with the Interested Person pursuant
to the Shareholders’ Mandate (recording the basis, including the quotations obtained to support such
basis, on which they were entered into) (the “IPT Register”). Any discrepancies or significant variances
(as determined by the Audit Committee) from the Group’s usual business practices and pricing policies
will be highlighted to the Audit Committee. The IPT Register will also record any transaction with an
Interested Person that is less than S$100,000 in value, though such transactions are not covered under
the Shareholders’ Mandate;

the Audit Committee shall, at least on a quarterly basis, periodically review the IPT Register to ensure
that the Interested Person Transactions are carried out on normal commercial terms and in accordance
with the guidelines and review procedures under the Shareholders’ Mandate. All relevant non-quantitative
factors will also be taken into account, including but not limited to customer requirements, specification
compliance, delivery schedules, track record, experience and expertise. The Group’s internal and
external auditors shall assist the Audit Committee in such review and carry out such tests as they deem
necessary;

the Company’s annual internal audit plan shall incorporate a review of all Interested Person Transactions,
including the established review procedures for monitoring of such Interested Person Transactions,
entered into during the current financial year pursuant to the Shareholders’ Mandate. The Group’s internal
auditor shall, on a yearly basis, subject to adjustment in frequency, and depending on factors such as,
inter alia, substantial increment of aggregate transactional value, report to the Audit Committee on all
Interested Person Transactions, and the basis of such transactions, entered into with the Interested
Person(s) during the preceding period;

as part of the Group’s annual audit, external auditors will review the Interested Person Transactions
on a sampling basis. The external auditors will report to the Audit Committee in the event of any non-
compliance based on the audit sample;

the Audit Committee and the Board shall review the internal audit reports to ascertain that the guidelines
and review procedures under the Shareholders’ Mandate have been complied with and have overall
responsibility for the determination of such guidelines and review procedures with the authority to sub-
delegate to individuals or committees within the Company as they deem appropriate. In addition, the
Audit Committee shall also review from time to time the guidelines and review procedures to determine if
they are adequate and/or commercially practicable in ensuring that all Interested Person Transactions are
conducted on normal commercial terms;

if during its periodic reviews the Audit Committee is of the view that the proposed review procedures
and guidelines in place have become inappropriate or insufficient in view of the changes to the nature
of, or the manner in which, the business activities of the Group are conducted, it will, in consultation with
the Board, take such actions as it deems proper in respect of such procedures and guidelines and/or
modify or implement such procedures and guidelines as may be necessary to ensure that the Interested
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Person Transactions will be conducted on normal commercial terms and, hence, will not be prejudicial to
the interests of the Company and its minority Shareholders. The Company will then accordingly seek a
fresh mandate from the Shareholders based on the new review procedures and guidelines for Interested
Person Transactions.

7.3.3. Interested Audit Committee Member to Abstain

In the event that a member of the Audit Committee (where applicable) is interested (directly or indirectly) in
any Interested Person Transaction, he/she will abstain from reviewing that particular transaction to ensure that
the Interested Person Transaction will be carried out on normal commercial terms and not be prejudicial to
the interests of the Company and its minority Shareholders. Approval of that transaction will accordingly be
undertaken by the remaining members of the Audit Committee.

7.3.4. Further Compliance
The Board will ensure compliance with all disclosure, approval and other requirements relating to Interested

Person Transactions, including those prescribed by applicable laws and regulations, the Listing Manual and
accounting standards.

Benefits to the EAR Group

The renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate on an annual basis would eliminate the need to convene separate general
meetings from time to time to seek Shareholders’ approval as and when potential Interested Person Transactions
or Interested Persons arise, thereby reducing substantially the administrative time and expenses in convening such
meetings, without compromising the corporate objectives and adversely affecting the business opportunities available to
the EAR Group.

The Shareholders’ Mandate is intended to facilitate transactions in the normal course of business of the EAR Group,
which are transacted from time to time with the Interested Person, provided that they are carried out at arm’s length
and on the normal commercial terms and are not prejudicial to Shareholders.

The Company will announce the aggregate value of transactions conducted with the Interested Person pursuant to the
Shareholders’ Mandate for the half-yearly financial periods which the Company is required to report on pursuant to the
Listing Manual and within the time required for the announcement of such report.

Disclosure will also be made in the annual reports of the Company of the aggregate value of Interested Person
Transactions conducted pursuant to the Shareholders’ Mandate during the financial year in which a shareholders’
mandate is in force.
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P roxy Form IMPORTANT:

1.

GREEN BUILD TECHNOLOGY LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore) 2.
(Company Registration No. 200401338W)

This Annual Report is also forwarded to investors
who have used their CPF monies to buy shares in
the Company at the request of their CPF Approved
Nominees, and is sent solely for their information only.

This Proxy Form is therefore, not valid for use by CPF
investors and shall be ineffective for all intents and
purposes if used or purported to be used by them.

Relevant intermediaries (as defined in Section 181 of
the Companies Act, Cap. 50) may appoint more than
two proxies

1/We (Name)
of (Address)
being a member/members of Green Build Technology Limited (the “Company”) hereby appoint
Name Address NRIC/ Proportion of my/our
Passport No. Shareholding
No. of shares %
and/or (delete as appropriate)
Name Address NRIC/ Proportion of my/our
Passport No. Shareholding
No. of shares %

failing which, the Chairman of the Meeting, as my/our proxy/proxies to attend and vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the
Annual General Meeting of the Company, to be held at Shibuya Room at level 4 of TKP Conference Centre, 137 Cecil Street,
Singapore 069537 on 27 April 2017 at 10.00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof. I/We direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote

for or against the Resolutions to be proposed at the Meeting as indicated

hereunder. If no specific direction as to voting is

given, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at his/their discretion, as he/they will on any other matter arising at the

Meeting.

(If you wish to exercise all your votes “For” or “Against’, please indicate your vote “For” or “Against” with “X” within the box

provided. Alternatively, please indicate the number of votes as appropriate.)

No. | Resolutions Relating To:

For Against

Ordinary Business

1. | Adoption of Audited Accounts for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 together
with the Directors’ Statement and the Auditors’ Report of the Company

Approval of Directors’ Fees for the financial year ending 31 December 2017

Re-election of Mr Zhao Lizhi

Re-election of Mr Kuan Cheng Tuck

Re-appointment of Mr Gallen Tay Wi Keng

Re-appointment of Mr Dong Congwen

Njo| o~ wd

Re-appointment of Messrs KPMG LLP as Auditors

Special Business

8. Authority to allot and issue new shares

9. Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for Interested Person Transactions

Dated this day of 2017.

Signature of Member(s) or Common Seal

Important: Please read notes overleaf

Total number of Shares held




Notes:

1. A member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint one or two proxies to attend and vote in his
stead.
2. Where a member appoints more than one proxy, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportion of his holding

(expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

3. A member who is a relevant intermediary entitled to attend the meeting and vote is entitled to appoint more than two proxies to attend
and vote instead of the member, but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different Share or Shares held
by such member. Where such member appoints more than two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless the member specifies
the number of Shares in relation to which each proxy has been appointed.

“Relevant intermediary” means:

(a) a banking corporation licensed under the Banking Act (Cap. 19) of Singapore or a wholly-owned subsidiary of such a banking
corporation, whose business includes the provision of nominee services and who holds shares in that capacity;

(b) a person holding a capital markets services licence to provide custodial services for securities under the Securities and Futures
Act (Cap. 289) of Singapore and who holds shares in that capacity; or

(c) the Central Provident Fund Board established by the Central Provident Fund Act (Cap. 36) of Singapore, in respect of shares
purchased under the subsidiary legislation made under that Act providing for the making of investments from the contributions
and interest standing to the credit of members of the Central Provident Fund, if the Board holds those shares in the capacity of
an intermediary pursuant to or in accordance with that subsidiary legislation.

4. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

5. A member should insert the total number of shares held. If the member has shares entered against his name in the Depository
Register maintained by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited (“CDP”), he should insert that number of shares. If the member has
shares registered in his name in the Register of Members of the Company, he should insert that number of shares. If the member
has shares entered against his name in the said Depository Register and registered in his name in the Register of Members of the
Company, he should insert the aggregate number of shares. If no number is inserted, this form of proxy will be deemed to relate to all
the shares held by the member.

6. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the Company’s registered office at 9 Temasek Boulevard Suntec
City Tower 2 #09-01, Singapore 038989 not less than 48 hours before the time set for the Annual General Meeting.

7. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing.
Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its common seal or
under the hand of its attorney or a duly authorised officer.

8. Where an instrument appointing a proxy is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the power of attorney or a duly certified
copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with the instrument of proxy; failing which the instrument
may be treated as invalid.

9. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fit to act
as its representative at the meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore.

10. The submission of an instrument or form appointing a proxy by a member of the Company does not preclude him from attending and
voting in person at the Annual General Meeting if he is able to do so. Any appointment of a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to be
revoked if a member attends the meeting in person, and in such event, the Company reserves the right to refuse to admit any person
or persons appointed under the instrument of proxy to the Meeting.

11. The Company shall be entitled to reject a Proxy Form which is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible or where the true intentions
of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified on the Proxy Form. In addition, in the case of
shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject a Proxy Form if the member, being the appointor, is not shown
to have shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 72 hours before the time appointed for holding the Annual
General Meeting, as certified by CDP to the Company.

12. Agent Banks acting on the request of CPF Investors who wish to attend the Annual General Meeting as observers are required to
submit in writing, a list with details of the investors’ name, NRIC/Passport numbers, addresses and numbers of Shares held. The list,
signed by an authorised signatory of the agent bank, should reach the Company Secretary, at the registered office of the Company not
later than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting.

13. A Depositor's name must appear in the Depository Register maintained by the Central Depository (Pte) Limited not less than 72 hours
before the time appointed for the holding of the Annual General Meeting in order for him to be entitled to vote at the Annual General
Meeting.

Personal Data Protection:

By attending the Annual General Meeting and/or any adjournment thereof or submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or
representative(s), the member accepts and agrees to the personal data privacy terms set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting.
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